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Tuesday, March 20, 2012

--- On commencing at 10:33 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning.  The Board is sitting today on the matter of a notice of intention to make an order for compliance and administration penalty against Summitt Energy Management Inc.

The Board on its own motion under section 112.2 of the Ontario Energy Board Act issued a notice of intention that it intends to make an order under section 112.3 and 112.5 of the Act requiring Summitt Energy to comply with a number of enforceable provisions as defined in section 112.1 of the act, and to pay an administrative penalty in the amount of $15,000 for breaches of enforceable provisions.

Summitt, in accordance with the opportunity provided in the notice, requested that the Board hold a hearing on this matter.  Summitt Energy filed a notice of motion on December 15th, 2011.  The motion sought various orders of the Board with respect to, among other things, the confidential treatment of certain information and other matters related to disclosure.

The motion was heard by the Board on December 22nd, 2011.  The Board provided dates for the filing of items that had been agreed to by the parties, but reserved on its findings on the remaining contested items.

In a letter dated February 21st, 2012, counsel for Summitt requested that the Board set aside a date to hear two additional motions, a motion by compliance to amend the August 25th, 2011 notice of intention, and a cross-motion by Summitt for the determination of the proper statutory interpretation of subsections 17 and 18 of section 7(1) of the new Ontario Regulation 389-10 under the Energy Consumer Protection Act; namely, whether those subsections create:
"(i) A physical placement offence (i.e. that the sub-sections are offended if the ordering or physical placement of the signing lines or boxes for the parties to sign on a form of agreement are in an incorrect order); or
(ii) A temporal signing offence (i.e. that the sub-sections are offended if the actual chronological signing of the signatures of the parties on a contract occurs in an incorrect order)."


Summitt also requested that a timetable for written submissions and that the deadline for the written submissions take place prior to the motions hearing.

The Board issued Procedural Order No. 2 on February 24th, 2012 establishing the schedule for the filing of materials in support of the motions, as well as establishing today's date for the hearing of the motions.

Parties have filed their submissions on their motions, responses to those submissions, as well as respective reply memoranda of fact and law.

I will take appearances now, please.
Appearances:


MR. SELZNICK:  Steven Selznick here for Summitt Energy, and to my immediate left is Ms. Gaetana Girardi, who attended last on the December 22nd procedural hearing.  You may recall her.  She is the director of compliance and regulatory affairs of Summitt.

And Jeremy Martin is sitting to her left, who is a student at law at our office who has assisted with the case so far.  And Mr. Safayeni is here for compliance counsel.  I will let him introduce...

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Selznick.  Mr. Safayeni?

MR. SAFAYENI:  Good morning.  Justin Safayeni on behalf of compliance counsel, and to my immediate right is Mr. Lou Mustillo on behalf of Board Staff.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Ms. Spoel.  Michael Millar, counsel to the Board.  I am joined by Michael Bell.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  So we have the two motions, and the Board has reviewed all the materials that have been submitted, and it is the Board's view - and we will continue in this fashion - that we will hear the motions sequentially.  There have been submissions by Summitt that there is a need to hear them in a concurrent fashion.

Mr. Selznick, I would just like to finish off here.  The Board has determined that, looking at the two motions, it will hear the one motion, and then determine what to do after that motion.  As to whether or not we need to delve into the second one or not will be determined at that time, Mr. Selznick.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  I didn't want to interrupt you, but I was going to raise this procedural matter at the beginning.  I am content to have each motion heard separately.  I think that's structurally better.  We can say something in reply, and have a follow-up.

I would just ask the Board not to make a determination, unless it is not to allow the amendment, on both motions until the evidence is heard, because I think, in one respect, our motion on the interpretation may also affect the decision on whether the amendment is proper.

MR. QUESNELLE:  The Board will be mindful of that.  Thank you.  Any other preliminary matters?  Mr. Millar, anything?  No.  So on that, Mr. Safayeni, are you prepared to speak first to the motion to amend?

MR. SAFAYENI:  I am content to proceed in that fashion, if that's what the Board wants to do.  I just want to make one quick comment, though, which is, in my submission, and just to be clear about compliance counsel's position, if the motion -- the interpretation motion, if it's the decision of the Board to prefer Summitt's interpretation of the interpretation than compliance counsel has put forward, compliance counsel is going to abandon the motion to amend.

In other words, the logical order in which these things should flow, in my submission, is consider the interpretation issue.  If the interpretation issue goes against compliance counsel, we will no longer be pursuing our motion to amend.  And we are not going to amend our motion -- our notice of intention after you have determined that the interpretation we have put on that notice is incorrect.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Safayeni, the Board has put its mind to this, and obviously there are options.  We have considered them, and obviously we welcome and enjoy your submissions on this, but to the extent we have an intention before us and compliance has determined that it chooses to make an amendment of that, sequentially we see that that is the issue to deal with first so that we have a case before us or we don't.

I think that's the logic and analysis the Board has applied to this, that before we, in a chronological order, entertain the interpretation of something, we have to determine whether or not there is something before us.

MR. SAFAYENI:  That's fine.  If that is how the Board wishes to proceed, I am content to do so.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thanks, Mr. Safayeni.  So, Mr. Safayeni, you will be assisting us on what documents we require in front of us?  We have had quite a few in the last few days, and records control has been somewhat of a challenge.  So we will ask you for your assistance and indulgence.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay, I appreciate that.  I think it would be useful if you had with you the written submissions of compliance counsel on the motion to amend, which is this document here.  Unfortunately, they are all the same colour.

MS. SPOEL:  What is the date on that one?

MR. SAFAYENI:  The date on that is March 12th.  Actually, identifying the documents by the dates may be helpful.  There is the reply submissions dated March 16th and the supplementary book of authorities dated March 19th.

MS. SPOEL:  That's your reply submissions, the March 16th one?

MR. SAFAYENI:  Correct, yes.

MS. SPOEL:  You have your March 12th written submissions, and then...

MR. SAFAYENI:  The reply submissions dated March 16th and the supplementary book of authorities dated March 19th.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Millar, what's your suggestion as far as marking any of these documents or --


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I am in your hands.  These documents have been prefiled, so I don't think it's necessary to mark them as an exhibit.  If you would like to do so for aid of identification, we can do that, but I don't think it's necessary.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think as long as we are clear in the transcript as to the titles and the dates, that may be the most -- that will probably be the most efficient way to carry on, then.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.
Submissions by Mr. Safayeni:

MR. SAFAYENI:  So as I have said, this motion to amend, although we are addressing it first, it's only going to be a live issue in this matter if the Board concludes that the underlying offence is a physical placement offence; that is, that it's an offence, that the interpretation that we have put on that offence is an offence known to law.

So I say this at the outset because much of my friend's argument goes to this idea that you can't amend a notice where the notice sets out an offence that doesn't exist, okay?  And I accept that proposition.

And that's why I am saying that if you conclude the offence that we think exists in those subsections, subsection 7.117 and 7.118, is a temporal offence, then the physical-placement offence does not exist and the issue before you on the amendment is not something that we want to pursue.

So I am starting with the presumption that the offence exists, okay?  So the question before you on the motion to amend then is, can you amend an offence that exists to further particularize that offence -- that's the words we want to put in physical placement in the draft notice of intention -- and can we correct a typo, because we have put in in the original notice, which actually, I may just take you there briefly.  I will try and keep the page-turning to a minimum, but if you turn to tab A in the written submissions dated March 12th you will see the draft amended notice, and if you turn to page 2 of tab A you will see the amendment that we are seeking, okay?

So we are looking to take out the word "after", replace it with the word "before", which I am -- in my submission is just a typo, and we are looking to add the words "physically above", which in my submission goes to clarifying the nature of the offence and just making it clear, the nature of the regulatory breach, actually, and making it clear that it's a physical and not temporal issue.

So assuming the offence exists, the question is, can you make the correction of a typo and the inclusion of additional particular details.

MS. SPOEL:  And the typo you are referring to is that you said "after", it's not "before".

MR. SAFAYENI:  Right.  That's right.  And frankly, how we characterize this, whether it's a typo or whether it's just a mistake or a slip or something a little bit more than a typo, in my submission, does not really matter.  Whatever we classify it as, the test will allow you to make the amendment.

So I want to turn now to the test.  Now, there is -- it's important to keep this conceptually clear, because there is three different standards that are kind of floating around in the materials, and I want to just specify where the parties stand on this or where I think the parties stand on this.

Compliance counsel is submitting before you that the proper test is the civil standard, the standard that comes from our Rules of Civil Procedure which is used in actions between private litigants, and that standard is that an amendment is granted unless -- so the default position is you grant the amendment unless there is prejudice to the party resisting the amendment, and not only is it prejudice, but it's prejudice that cannot be compensated for by costs or an adjournment.

So if the prejudice is just, this is going to make us spend a little bit more money, the proper remedy is to award costs.  If the prejudice is just we are going to need more time to deal with this, the remedy is an amendment -- is an adjournment, excuse me.  It's not to deny the amendment.

Now, the second standard before you is the Provincial Offences Act standard.  This standard is used before courts, and there is a specific test set out in the Provincial Offences Act which I will take you to in the course of my submissions.

The final standard is the criminal standard, and I don't actually understand that my friend is suggesting that that standard applies here, although he refers to many cases for certain principles -- of course, he will correct me if I am wrong.  But the criminal standard, of course, applies in criminal law under the Criminal Code of Canada, which establishes federal crimes, and it's a different test again, and it's a little bit more stringent.

So I think really the debate before you is before the civil standard and the Provincial Offences Act standard, okay?  To the extent that my friend is going to advance the Criminal Code standard as appropriate here -- and again, I am not sure if he will -- I am not going to deal with that unless I have to in reply, because I really think that misses the mark.

In setting the appropriate standard between the civil standard and the Provincial Offences Act standard, I think it's important for this Board to keep in mind that we are in a regulatory context here.  And that's an important theme to keep coming back to, because a lot of these principles and doctrines that my friend is going to invite you to apply were not developed in a regulatory context, they were developed in the Provincial Offences Act or even the criminal context.

The fact is that the Board had a decision here to make.  It could have pursued this as a Provincial Offences matter.  It could have brought a formal charging document and information or a certificate, pursued this in provincial court before a judge, pursued different and potentially more serious penalties which are available under that route, and it chose not to.  It chose to go the pure regulatory route and initiate compliance proceedings heard by this Board.

In my submission, that must mean something.  It doesn't make sense to start importing tests from a statute that we're not under.  This proceeding has nothing to do with the Provincial Offences Act.  We are under the OEB Act, and we are under the Board's regulatory compliance process under that statute.

It's important, and I think it's telling, that there is no case cited by my friend where the Provincial Offences Act test has been applied by a Board.  That's because this is not how it's done.  It's applied by courts.

Now, I don't think that it's a very controversial proposition that this Board has the ability to amend.  Most of the argument between the parties is whether it's appropriate to exercise that ability.  But I will just take you briefly to what I say grounds that ability, and it's in the OEB Act, section 112.2.

If we turn to tab 1 in -- sorry, B1 in that same book, in the written submissions dated March 12th, if you go to page 5, under the compliance section, section 112.2(2) at the bottom of that page says:

"The Board shall give written notice to a person that it intends to make an order under section 112.3, 112.4, 112.5."

If you turn the page, top of page 6, it says:

"Notice shall set out the reasons for the proposed order and shall advise the person..."

And then it goes on.  But it says "shall set out the reasons for the proposed order", okay, so detailing the basis for it.

Now, if the Board has the ability -- in fact, it's obliged to set out a notice with this information in it -- in my submission, the statute equally gives the Board the ability to amend that notice to include additional information that would further clarify the charge or correct any mistakes set out in the original notice.

This only makes sense.  And we can cite, you know, doctrines of interpretation, whether it's explicit in there, whether it's implied, whether it's a necessary implication.  It simply can't be that you have the power to amend a notice, but then as soon as you realize a mistake in the notice you don't have the power to fix it.  That is absurd, and it can't be the right -- it can't be the right result.  It can't be the correct interpretation.  It can't be the intention of the legislature.

The real question is:  Should you amend?  In this case, and perhaps more generally, what is the test that should govern when the Board makes an amendment?

Now, in my submission, and I am going to try not to repeat my written submissions too much, because I am aware that the Board has read that, but I say that whether we are under the civil standard, which is amendment is a default unless there is prejudice that can't be compensated for by costs or an adjournment, or whether we are under the Provincial Offences Act test, which I don't think should apply here, but I am willing to entertain for the purposes of argument, the amendment should be granted.

So under either of those tests, the amendment should be granted.  The reason is that there is no prejudice here, and certainly there is no prejudice that can't be remedied by costs or by an adjournment.

We are still at an early stage in the proceedings.  As the Board members are aware, we are still in the disclosure phase.  We have not even started the interrogatories yet.  A hearing date has not even been set.

There is plenty of time for Summitt to prepare a defence to the charge it is facing.  And, moreover, it's clear from the record that Summitt has understood compliance counsel's position that we are talking about physical placement of the requirements on the contract for months.

This first came out, somewhat to my shock, at the disclosure motion, but I made my position clear then.  Subsequent correspondence between the parties repeatedly raised this issue.  And regarding the slip in the notice of intention, the wording that I adverted to there earlier as between the word "before" being switched in for the word "after", it was brought to Summitt's attention in a letter I wrote in mid January.  So that issue has been on the table for months now, as well.

So it really can't be said that this is coming by surprise or this is, on the eve of the trial, being sprung on my friend.  And even if that were the case, an adjournment would be enough to remedy that.

I am going to take you to a decision of our Court of Appeal in Ontario.  It's a decision called Winlow.  It's at tab B2 of my authorities.  That's the -- sorry, we are in the same book.  Sorry, just give me one moment.

MR. MILLAR:  I think it's with your reply submissions, Mr. Safayeni, at tab B2.

MR. SAFAYENI:  That's right.  Thank you.  If we go to the reply submissions, the book dated March 16th, at tab B2, we will see the Winlow decision from the Court of Appeal.  This decision dealt with a case where it's under the Provincial Offences Act, and the issue was that the Crown wanted to what's called "amend up" a speeding charge, okay?

So there is a real issue here, and you can see perhaps how prejudice might arise, because basically the Crown wanted to charge somebody with going faster than the information had originally set out, but the Court here emphasized the prejudice analysis and emphasized that notice of the real charge being faced is a paramount consideration.

If we go to paragraph 73, which is on page 26 of that decision, the Court says:
"An important question bearing on the fairness of the amendment is when the defendant receives notice of it.  No special form of notice is required.  Indeed, the notice need not even be in writing.  But the timing matters."


Paragraph 74 goes on:
"Ideally, the defendant should receive notice of proposed amendment before the day of trial.  However, in POA proceedings, this ideal will not always be practical.  If, for practical reasons, notice of the amendment can only be given on the day of trial, then it would be far preferable that notice is given before the trial begins and that the defendant be given a reasonable opportunity to consider how to respond."


Now, in this case, notice has been given for months.  We are months away from any sort of hearing.  It's difficult to see how that logic could possibly result in prejudice to Summitt if the court here is contemplating notice being given at or even during trial.

On the other side of the ledger, Summitt has provided no evidence of prejudice.  The only mention of prejudice is at paragraph 29 of Summitt's reply submissions.  I don't want to necessarily take you there, but I am going to respond to them.

As a preliminary matter, it's very important for the Board to recognize that this is not evidence.  It's argument.  Paragraph 29, there is no cite to an affidavit.  There is no cite to any kind of spot in the record where prejudice is made out.  It's exactly what I say it is in my factum, which is a bald assertion.  It's argument.

Now, even if we accept everything in paragraph 29 as being true, which we shouldn't, because there is no evidence backing it up, I want to address those points one by one.

The first evidence, purported evidence of prejudice, is that Summitt would have to, quote, "scramble to assemble evidence because of a shorter hearing timetable".  I am not sure where this is coming from.  There is no -- there has been no discussions on a timetable.

That matter has not even been raised between the parties, as far as I am aware, and certainly this is a classic type of prejudice that could be handled with a more relaxed timetable, if my friend requires it.  It's not something that is the basis for denying an amendment.

The second basis is Summitt is unable to affirm its plea until we sort this issue out.  That's, again, a little bit difficult to understand.  Summitt has known about compliance counsel's position on the charges for months.  It could have that time to consider its plea.

Even if it is not able to make that decision until after this hearing and after the Board renders a decision, I don't understand how that's prejudice.  So it had to make a decision two months later than it otherwise would have this doesn't amount to prejudice that can ground denying an amendment.

The third argument is fading witness memories.  Now, there are several responses to this.  First of all, this is a document-driven case.  We are talking about contracts and requirements of a contract.

If you accept compliance counsel's interpretation, this is an entirely document-driven case.  In any event, fading witness memories after seven months is not -- in cases where courts have dismissed things for prejudice, it has been -- years and years have passed.

And in this case, Summitt has known about these proceedings since August 25th.  If it was at all concerned about fading witness memories, it could have taken steps then to, quote-unquote, preserve those memories by taking statements or recording the evidence of those witnesses, or whatever.  That was entirely within its power.

The last point, regarding expenses of this motion and additional expense that Summitt has been forced to go through because of this process, is something that I strongly disagree with.  This motion to amend really should have been able to have been resolved on consent if the parties were acting reasonably.

But, in any event, it had the right to -- Summitt had the right, of course, to oppose the motion, as it did, and if there is prejudice in the costs of this motion, that's something that can be remedied by costs.  It's not the basis for denying an amendment.

I would strongly suggest that there is no prejudice, because this really should have not been a contested matter.  This is a simple request for a simple amendment.

Okay, I won't be too much longer.  Under the civil standard, what I have just gone through with you is enough to decide the question of an amendment, because there is no prejudice and you should grant it; end of question.

Under the Provincial Offences Act I also think that that's enough to decide it, but the framework is a little bit different.  There is the four factors that you would have seen from our submissions.  But the key factor, even under the Provincial Offences Act, remains prejudice.  If there is prejudice that can't be compensated for by costs or an adjournment, you deny.  If there is not prejudice normally, you would amend.

If we turn to the NMC case, which is in my reply submissions, the document dated March 16th, and it's at tab B1...

MR. SELZNICK:  B1 of the same...

MR. SAFAYENI:  Yes, the same document, the same book, the reply submissions.  The bottom of page 13 in tab B1.  You will see, first of all, they reproduce the section of the POA where it sets out the four factors:  The evidence taken on trial, the circumstances of the case, whether the defendant has been misled or prejudiced, and whether, having regard to the merits of the case, the amendment can be made without injustice being done.

And then the court explains:

"Subsection 8 does not apply, since there was no trial."

That's the same here.  There has been no trial yet.
"The other subsections of section 34(4) are irrelevant.  The circumstances of this case are serious, as they concern a fatality."

Now, you'll note that in many of the other cases in my materials the circumstances are not that serious; for example, the amending up of the speeding ticket we just went to.  So that's not a determinative consideration.  It goes on:

"I do not consider that either NMC or Stanford (ph) is prejudiced in its defence because the Ministry omitted to charge them in December 1990."

And we turn the page:

"Neither filed an affidavit alleging it was prejudiced."

That's the case here as well.

"I infer that both were aware of the charges within the limitation period."

And then this is the key line:

"Absent prejudice, this court has discretion in civil proceedings to add a defendant to an existing action despite the expiry of a limitation period.  The court has similar discretion in proceedings under the POA."

Now, in that case the amendment was granted, and generally when a limitation period is expired, that's a serious prejudice.  That's not the case we are in here.  There is no suggestion that a limitation period has expired.

In that case they allowed the amendment even though there was that that happened, so they basically took a defence away from the accused.

This case is a much easier one, in my submission.  But it just makes clear that prejudice is the key consideration under the POA.

Now, I just have a few quick closing comments to make, and then I will turn the floor over.  I want to talk about the nature of these amendments.  And it would be perhaps useful if you turned back up the amendment before you, which is in the March 12th written submissions at tab 1A.  And I apologize for making you jump between the books.

Now, first, as I set out in my submissions, the amendments here are designed to do -- the amendment of the word "before" instead of "after" is designed to correct a typographical mistake.  The section -- the paragraph specifically refers to the proper sections in the regulations.  Those sections in the regulations, as I will argue later today, indicate the proper order.  So it should have been clear from that.

And while perhaps on a certain view you could say, Well, before and after are the exact opposites of each other; how is this just a typo, I think looking at this in context and having the fact that the regulations are referred to and the specific contracts are referred to -- and if you look at the specific contracts you will see the physical order of the two things in question -- it is clear that this was just a mistake.

I want to take you to one case that I think is instructive.  It's the Schmidt decision, and it's in the supplementary book of authorities, which is the only book we haven't gone to yet.  And it's at tab 5.

If we look at paragraph 7, this was a case where an individual was charged under the Health Protection and Promotion Act for distributing unpasteurized milk, okay?  That's the background of this case.

And if we look at paragraph 7, you will see that the Justice in this case goes through all those -- all the paragraphs that are set out in the information.  The information is the kind of the equivalent of the notice under the Provincial Offences Act, sets out all the different allegations.

And if you look at sub-paragraph 5 under paragraph 7 on the Schmidt case, you will see it says:

"Michael Schmidt, on the 22nd of August, at 9100 Bathurst Street, Thornhill, City of Vaughan, Ontario, did distribute to Susan Atherton and others a milk product processed or derived from milk that was not pasteurized."

And you'll see that the word "not" has been inserted in square brackets.

So if we look at the bold writing at the end of that paragraph, you'll see a note, and this note was added in by the judge:

"Note:  This count charges the defendant with having distributed a milk product that was derived from milk that was pasteurized."

So that is what the language originally said.

"The intention of the informant was clearly that the defendant is alleged to have distributed the product from milk that was not pasteurized.  I found this to be a simple typographical error, and on my own motion, pursuant to section 34(1)(a) of the Provincial Offences Act, I've amended this count to reflect the obvious intention of the prosecution."

This was done by the judge on the court's own motion.  This was not even a matter of argument by the parties, the judge thought it was so obvious, and again, this is in a more serious context, right?  This is in a Provincial Offences Act context.  Here we're not under the POA, we are under the Board's own process.

So in my submission, the Board should take an equally pragmatic, common-sense and practical approach to the amendment here, and I think it would be a little bit difficult to construe the words "before" instead of "after" here as anything more than just a slip, especially given that the proper sections were cited, that the contracts were in Summitt's possession and were particularized in an appendix.

It must have been abundantly clear what the notice meant.  And even if it wasn't, it was clear as of when I wrote to my friend in mid-January and specified what exactly the paragraph was supposed to say.

The second thing the amendment is designed to do is to remove any doubt that we are talking here about physical placement, and that's the issue, of course, before you.  The words "i.e., physically above" are just meant to reflect that.

I think paragraph was clear enough from the initial wording in the notice, but this is an amendment just designed to further clarify and particularize the nature of the charge.

It's useful to consider the type of amendments that have been allowed under the Provincial Offences Act, which again is the higher of the two standards.  Amendments that increase the violation and potential penalties of the charge -- those are like the speeding ticket amending-up case, the Winlow case that I have included in my materials -- those amendments have been allowed.

Amendments that change the substance of the offence being charged.  Even if you think that this is a completely different offence that's being substituted, those kind of amendments have been allowed.

I won't take you to the case.  The case is called Louis.  It's in my supplementary book of authorities at paragraph 33. It's a Court of Appeal decision.

Amendments that occur during, on the eve of -- or on the eve of trial have also been allowed or even on appeal.  Courts have allowed amendments where there is one charge being charged at trial and a different charge that ultimately gets -- or the same charge gets affirmed on appeal, but the information is found to be defective and the appeal court - this is after a trial has already happened - allows an amendment.  That's also in the Louis case at paragraph 14.

So this demonstrates that the power to amend really is a broad power under the Provincial Offences Act.  The Court of Appeal says as much in the Winlow decision and in the other decisions I have cited.

If you give me a moment, I can at least give you the cite to that so you can -- sorry, if you look at the NMC decision, which is at tab B1, at the bottom of page 12 - you don't have to go there now, but I just want -- you can write that down for the proposition that it's a broad power to amend.  That's the NMC decision, tab B1 of my reply submissions, bottom of page 12.

So the last point I will make is I think we have to consider the implications if the power to amend did not exist in these circumstances, okay?  In my submission, it would be absurd.  We would have to reissue the notice of intention based on exactly the same facts, based on exactly the same evidence.  We would have to redo the exercise of disclosure and interrogatories.  If this amendment happened a little bit later in the process, we would have to redo even more work, all for really accomplishing nothing, just making the administration of the Board go through the process of issuing a fresh notice, wasting our resources and really offering no additional fairness advantage to the other side, because the amendment will say exactly what the proposed amendment says, which is exactly what the other side has notice of right now.

So just to conclude, I will take you to a passage which I think captures this concern, which is the Louis decision of the Court of Appeal at tab 4 of my supplementary book of authorities.  That's the book dated March 19th.

MR. SELZNICK:  Sorry, that's...

MR. SAFAYENI:  It's tab 4 of the supplementary book of authorities.  Sorry, the Irwin decision.  That's my mistake.  If we go to the Irwin decision and we go to paragraph 33 on page 11, and if we go about six lines down, this is Justice Doherty writing on behalf of the Court of Appeal, says:
"I am moved by a different policy consideration.  If there is no power to make an amendment even in the total absence of prejudice, there can be no impediment to a prosecution on the substituted charge.  That prosecution would involve a relitigation of exactly the same issues on presumably exactly the same evidence.  I see no value, from the point of view of the due administration of justice, in a second trial in those circumstances."

I will just pause and note that this case was where the amendment was sought on appeal, so that's why he is referring to a trial that's already happened:
"Witnesses would be inconvenienced and resources spent for no purpose other than to give an accused a second chance to litigate issues which have been fully canvassed at the first trial.  I go even a step further.  I think the possibility of a different assessment of the same issues and the same evidence on a second trial does a disservice to the due administration of justice.  In my view, denying the power to amend to substitute a new charge where the substitution could not prejudice the accused would be akin to ordering a new trial where there had been an error in law at trial which could not have caused any prejudice to the accused."

In other words, it doesn't serve any purpose.

"In both situations the result strikes me as an unwarranted windfall for an accused."

Now, this is happening in much more serious circumstances.  It's happening in the context of a criminal conviction.  It's happening in a context where the amendment is sought on appeal.  The trial has already happened, based on the defective information, and Justice Doherty is still saying that this is something that we should allow where there is no prejudice.

I think those same considerations auger in favour of the same result even more strongly in this context where the interests are not the criminal conviction of an accused, but a regulatory breach by a corporate actor.  And the same logic in terms of the waste of resources and the no use -- no purpose being served applies here.

So I will just conclude by saying that whether we choose the civil standard or the regulatory, or the Provincial Offences Act standard, the fact that there is no prejudice and there is no evidence of prejudice on this motion compels the conclusion that the amendment should be allowed.

And subject to any questions you might have, I will turn the floor over to my friend.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  The Panel has no questions.  Mr. Millar, what is Board Staff's intent this morning as far as any submissions to be made or timing?

MR. MILLAR:  I am going to sit here and mark exhibits and little else.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Selznick, whenever you are ready.
Submissions by Mr. Selznick:


MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  So on this motion to amend -- and it's not -- I don't want to sound like being overly picky and a stick in the mud and forcing my friend to jump through hoops, but it is a compliance proceeding and it was a proceeding not instigated by our client.

It's not an application where our client is seeking some kind of privilege.  Our client has essentially been charged with an offence, and we are before a panel on a notice of intention to issue a penalty against the company.  And I will deal with that a little bit later, but we are here for a serious reason, and I don't want anybody to take the impression that we are just sort of playing loose and fast with the rules as they are.

This is a matter of, I think, first impression before the Board.  There haven't been a lot of compliance proceedings that have addressed these types of issues.  So I think it's fair for Summitt to seek to really know the case it has to meet.

It can't really take a lot of guidance out of case law before the Board on this point.

The big picture from our materials -- and, again, I hope to take you as little as possible, but I will take you to some portions.  The big picture is that count 1 in the notice of intention that was issued on August 25th, 2011 alleges the commission of a non-offence.

We are not talking about an offence where the facts might later allow compliance counsel to increase requests for a fine or add further allegations of non-compliance with certain provisions of the act.  We are dealing with a specific statement that is a non-offence.

So although I will get to the correct test for interpretation of whether compliance counsel has met the threshold for the amendment, I think regardless of whatever test is applicable, be it a civil standard, which I suggest doesn't apply here, or the more proper provincial offences standard, there is no charge to amend.  And I will go through that a little bit further in a few moments.

From August 25th, 2011 - I don't think we need any evidence on that point.  It's clearly just the notice of intention date, and the notice of intention is attached to Mr. Martin's affidavit in our materials - until January 13th, the date that compliance counsel first wrote to me to suggest that he sought an amendment - and that letter is in both my friend's materials and our materials - the only notice before the Board was the August 25th, 2011 notice, and the only charge in count 1 was the charge as originally represented.

The issue of the wording of that charge arose firstly on December 22nd at the procedural hearing.  And even at the procedural hearing the issue was about whether the wording was a temporal offence or whether the wording was a spatial or physical-placement test.  It was never about was the wording of count 1 incorrect.  That did not come up at the December 22nd hearing.

The Board ordered that December 22nd hearing certain threshold deliveries by compliance counsel, which have been met, evidence by a certain date in January - I believe it was January 10th.  I stand to be corrected on that - and then a disclosure of witness statements by another date, and that has been met.

So to say that we are in a process where disclosure is ongoing, it's not ongoing.  Disclosure has been completed.  I wouldn't anticipate receiving anything more from my friend, and I'd question the grounds of why further disclosure on what had to have been delivered wasn't delivered by the times required by the Board.

The issue of the amendment first arose after the delivery of that disclosure material.  The letter is January 13th, and I believe disclosure was on the 10th.  And I think the Board has to be mindful of trying not to Cooper up what wasn't an offence to something that is an offence based upon what the evidence is as it has unfolded, and I will address that in a moment.

So I think my friend and I - and I will address this in my -- on our motion when I speak to it as well - are in agreement on certain things, so I am happy to hear that my friend agrees that you can't amend a nullity, and I think I will limit my conversation on that, but I will sort of address that I believe this is a nullity.

And my friend then says that the Board has the power to amend, and I agree with the result of his conclusion.  I don't necessarily agree with the way he gets there, so I will just add I don't really think section 112 of the Ontario Energy Board Act really has an express right to amend.  I think it's more an inherent right to amend.  That talks about issued a notice, not amending a notice, but I think it's by the by, because I think the Board has the inherent authority over certain of its process to make amendments that it feels are appropriate in accordance with law.

But the real issue is, what's the test for that, and my friend in his materials points to section 21.1 of the Statutory Powers Procedures Act as perhaps allowing a tribunal to correct typographical errors.

And I'd just like to point out that I don't think that section is applicable.  That section applies to actual decisions and orders.  A notice of intention is neither a decision nor an order, but as it's worded, an intention or a -- that is, to issue an order and giving Summitt Energy the chance to respond to it.

The typographical errors are the misspelling of my name on the order or a typographical error in the name of a witness or the imprecise calculation of one plus one equals three, something obvious.  It's a typographical error on its face or a calculation where the punctuation is incorrect.  It's not to change a guilty plea to innocent or an innocent plea to guilty.

And again, those are decisions and orders.  They are not notices of intention.  So on that point I disagree with my friend, but I think ultimately the Board does possess the power to amend.  The real test is what test should guide the Board and what is compliance counsel's onus in satisfying that test, because clearly the onus is not upon Summitt to prove that the amendment is not a right of compliance counsel, it's upon the compliance counsel to prove it's entitled to the amendment.

And that brings us to one test that I think we can discount, and that's my friend's belief that the civil standard under the rules of practice should apply in this circumstance, which is -- he suggests is akin to a civil proceeding.  This is not akin to a civil proceeding.  There is no discovery involved here.  This is not a proceeding that we voluntarily involved ourselves with.  This is compliance proceeding.

The rules of practice don't apply to this, and the rules of practice don't apply outside a court designated by the Courts of Justice Act.  It's just not applicable in these circumstances.  The Board has its own rules of practice, and those are the ones that are applicable in this proceeding.

So it doesn't answer the question, but clearly the civil standard under the rules of not proceeding don't really apply where the parties really control their process, and few people other than the parties have any sort of interest in the proceedings.

So I would say at an outset that that is not a mandatory entitlement to an amendment before the Board here, and it's not one just dealing with the issue of prejudice, either in money or in time.  And again, it doesn't really answer the question of whether there is something to amend to begin with.

So I would like to take you -- if you wouldn't mind looking at Mr. Martin's affidavit.  So I conveniently have my materials in piles based upon their delivery dates, but if you look at the materials we originally submitted, which includes the affidavit of Mr. Martin dated March -- sworn March 12th, and if you look at Exhibit A to that affidavit you will see the notice of intention as originally issued.  And if you go to page 2 you will see the first count of the charge --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Excuse me, Mr. Selznick, just give us a moment.

MS. SPOEL:  Sorry, which page?

MR. SELZNICK:  Tab A --


MS. SPOEL:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  -- page 2.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  We are there, thank you.

MR. SELZNICK:  And the first count reads as noted there.  And I will just give you a minute.  I am sure you have read through this material, because it's extracted in both our materials and in my friend's materials, but it says "contract content requirements for new contracts", and it refers to the fact that:

"Summitt has failed to ensure that the person signing the contract on behalf of Summitt does so after the acknowledgment that has to be signed and dated by the consumer or the account holder's agent."

And then it refers to the applicable sections, and that's what has us here today.

Without any evidence on the point there is nothing in that statement that's a typographical error.  There is no spelling mistake.  There is no punctuation error.  The statement reads as a statement.

And this is the way this was presented when served on Summitt Energy on the 25th or 26th of August.  This is the notice of intention to which Summitt issued a request for a hearing on the 7th of September, which it's entitled to do to find out what the charges are against it, and the matter sat until November, and the decision to try to work out a timetable for a hearing and the procedural order.

So what should be the test for the amendment then of this particular clause if compliance counsel's seeking to amend it.  So the position we take is that the Electricity Consumer Protection Act and the regulations under section 3 are Regulation 389/10, are made offences under the Ontario Energy Board Act pursuant to section 126 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 126(1)(e).  Those are in our materials.  I don't have to read them to you.

But it refers to a person who contravenes the Energy Consumer Protection Act or its regulations as committing an offence and being guilty of committing an offence.  Those are words -- those are fighting words in the nature of a provincial offence under the Provincial Offences Act.

And I think on that basis alone it's a quasi-criminal type of charge when you bring into effect the fact that we are being charged with an offence under the Electricity Consumer Protection Act and its regulations.

And I think the Board has recognized in past decisions -- and you will see in our materials in the reply, our supplementary authorities on -- with our reply, the Consumers Gas case, where the Board has just held -- in fact held that an offence under section 126 is treated as a provincial offence.

Now, procedural fairness dictates that unless there is express language to the contrary about what the standard should be, either in the Ontario Energy Board Act, or the Electricity Consumer Protection Act, or the regulations or the Statutory Powers Procedure Act, a quasi-criminal prosecution such as this, a compliance matter, not a licensing matter, should afford Summitt Energy the protections of the Provincial Offences Act.

There is no reason why it should not.  This is not a civil proceeding between the parties.

Now, my friend quite rightly points out that this is a compliance prosecution under part 7(1) of the Ontario Energy Board Act and not a criminal prosecution under part 10 of the OEB Act, and that's true, but it shouldn't change the standard of proof and the rules applicable to determine whether Summitt Energy has committed an offence under the Electricity Consumer Protection Act.

There is not a separate section that says there is a lower standard or a summary conviction offence standard under part 7(1).  In fact, there is no standard reference, and it would be inconsistent to say that the level of proof, as opposed to the penalty being sought, was the determining factor in determining what level of proof -- what the standard should be.

And we are left in the incongruous position, if we feel there is a lower standard, to really be able to circumvent the intention of the legislation, because clearly breach of orders of the Ontario Energy Board are also offences under section 126.1, which would render a breach of an order out of this proceeding as, for sure, a matter under a provincial offence regime.  And we would have had the evidentiary record under a civil regime, which doesn't really give Summitt much help.

We would have had an evidentiary record in a provincial offences matter that would have been determined on a different standard, and we have addressed that matter in our material.  And I think on that basis alone, procedural fairness would dictate that compliance counsel must adhere to the test under the Provincial Offences Act and the standard of proof under that Act.

There are two things that we have to look at if we assume that it's Provincial Offences Act, or even if we look at the civil standard, which I suggest does not apply, and that is my friend's agreement with me that we cannot amend a nullity.

If there was no claim or no count to amend, whatever words we put into the charge to refresh it don't save it, and that's affirmed, I think, by section 25(2) of the Provincial Offences Act, which we cite in our materials, that the information must contain a statement that the accused committed an offence therein specified.

And section -- or count 1 of the notice of intention of August 25th, 2011 does not specify an offence.  It specifies a non-offence.  And it's very hard to advise one's client, should you offer a voluntary undertaking of compliance, not to do this again when it's not an offence to start with, or should you challenge it, only to find out it's a nullity at trial.

And the case law which we cite in our materials teaches us that the omission in the charge of essential averment to the offence renders the charge a nullity or void from the outset.  It is void ab initio.  We cited several cases there, Elliott and the Queen, the Queen and Coté, the Queen and Major, many well-known cases in this area.  And I don't think that proposition -- I don't think my friend disagrees with that proposition.

My friend's cases he cites are cases essentially where there is an intact charge, and it either is clarified or charged up, or other things are added to the charge to broaden it, particularize it.  But you can't particularize a charge that's not here.

So if my friend came to us and said he wants to amend this charge by adding it's 30 electricity contracts and not 25, I am not sure we would have much of a standing.  He is particularizing the offence, but there is no offence set out in the language before us as it stands.

I think we cited in our materials the Ontario Court of Appeal case in Ontario Ministry of Labour and Hamilton in our reply materials, paragraph 21 of our reply materials.  I won't take you to that now, but I think that stands unquestionably for the proposition that you can provide particulars or add particulars to a charge, but you can't substitute a new charge - not allowed or permitted - where the charge didn't exist before.  That's not charging up.  It's simply adding a new charge where one didn't exist before.

Now, I will take you to one case in our materials, and it's the case in the Scaff c. Comité de Discipline de l'Ordre des Optométristes du Québec, which is at -- if you look at our reply submissions, and that's the material that on its face says "Reply Overview Index" -- "Reply Overview Summitt Reply Submissions", and you turn to paragraph 23.

MR. QUESNELLE:  What is the date on that, Mr. Selznick?

MR. SELZNICK:  The date is not on the front cover, unfortunately.  The date is by the signature page.  The date is March 16th.  It says, "Reply Memorandum of Fact and Law, Summitt Energy Management Inc., March 16th, 2012" -- sorry.  It is March 16th, 2012.  That's two tabs, A and B attached.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. SELZNICK:  And if you turn to page 7, paragraph 23.  So this was a case before a regulatory board, where an individual was charged with an offence that -- or charged with an -- information on its face that did not disclose an offence, and here the court said, the first sentence:

"In my respectful view, the two complaints fail to disclose a violation of section 29 of the Act and they are, therefore, void ab initio."


So it's not that they disclose a charge that's legitimate and is a typographical error in the spelling or punctuation.  It's not a clear averment that, as my friend says in this particular piece of legislation in the milk case, where the "not" was added by the judge on his own volition.

It wasn't questioned by anyone.  I suspect someone could, but it wasn't questioned, and it was clear the word "not" should have gone in.  I don't see anywhere here the word "not" should have gone in.  The sentence reads properly with or without the word "not", or it doesn't read improperly without something being put in there.

On the second page, the next page over in the next paragraph, where the judge notes:
"I am not unmindful of the fact that both penal and criminal law permit the amendment of a complaint (or indictment) in the course of the case.  But these are amendments which bring precision to the charge, such as dates, places, names and other facts which help to identify the circumstances.  They are not amendments destined to breathe life into a charge which, legally, is stillborn."


So quite clearly here the amendment my friend seeks is a new charge, and it's a new charge that has come about, as my friend admits - I am not casting aspersions - my friend admits that he wasn't aware of until the December 22nd hearing when he probably read the count in detail.  It doesn't allege a specific offence.

So our position on this particular part of the argument is that although there may be a test applicable, the test is inapplicable in the sense you can't amend the charge to nullity, and this charge should be struck from the notice of intention to begin with and not amended.

I guess our second position is if the amendment proposed is to -- is in fact to correct or clarify a viable charge, which -- again, I don't admit it's viable, and I don't want to breathe life into that by suggesting it, but I am arguing the alternative here.  If the amendment is to correct or clarify an otherwise viable charge, then the test we assert is the test under the Provincial Offences Act.  It's not the civil standard, because we don't believe the rules of practice apply to this proceeding.

And the first thing, for sure, is that section 34(5) of the Provincial Offences Act teaches us that it's a question of law.  So it's for the Panel to decide as a matter of law.

The second thing is section 34(1) of the Provincial Offences Act allows an otherwise viable charge to be amended, but not substituted if it fails to state or states defectively anything that is required to charge the offence.

And, thirdly, in coming to the decision of whether it should be amended, we need to look at section 34(4), which sets really a four-part test, which my friend addressed, and I won't go through each of the points in detail.  But I will give our position on the test.

There are four things we need to really look at here, and that is the evidence at trial, if there is any; two, the circumstances of the case; three, has the accused, in this case Summitt, been misled or prejudiced?   And the test is misled or prejudiced, not just prejudice.

And, fourthly, can the amendment be made without injustice being done?

And I guess there is a -- in our view, there is a fourth proviso or a gloss to this, and that is as a quasi-criminal process compliance counsel bears the onus of championing these points.  It's not for Summitt to deny them.  And that onus is on the basis of beyond a reasonable doubt, just as we believe the charge would have to be proved beyond a reasonable doubt.  And that can be found in the Sault Ste. Marie case and the Stucky case and Falconbridge that are in our materials.

So let's look at each of those points and see what's before us.  So again, this is compliance counsel's onus.  It's his motion.  It's not ours.

First thing is, compliance counsel says there's not evidence at trial, and, yes, we haven't had a trial.  This is not a matter that's being addressed on appeal or during the course of the trial.  But there is disclosure material, and disclosure material has been provided.

And in this particular motion there has been no evidence provided by compliance counsel in the form of an affidavit based upon that disclosure material to support the suggestion that what he is saying here is actually supported by the evidence that he has disclosed or they based the charge upon.

Similarly -- and I think this is a seminal point here that we are all making the assumption on.  I mean, we need not to -- that this is a typographical error.  There is no evidence.  My friend goes to great lengths to point out that there is no evidence as to prejudice.  I suspect -- I submit there is evidence as to prejudice, and I will address that in a second.  It's clear on the record.  But there is no evidence that this is a typographical error.

The evidence of the typographical error is rather self-serving in the form of the following.  There is a Mr. Mudryk affidavit in my client's materials that attaches a string of letters between Mr. Safayeni and myself, starting with the January 13th letter of Mr. Safayeni saying he needs to make a correction for a typographical error.

And it is not our submission that it's not a typographical error in our response.  It said, well, how do we assess this?  We have no idea how to assess this.  And we have a bigger problem, because our problem is how do you interpret whether it's a temporal or a placement test.


So we have a series of letter that say this is a typographical error from compliance counsel that find their way into an affidavit and my friend's material say it's a typographical error.  He said today it is a typographical error.

However, in his materials as well he has indicated that -- and if I can take you for a moment in paragraph 9 of my friend's reply submission on the motion to amend, I believe it is -- oh, I think it's his March 16th written submissions, if I am not mistaken here -- counsel to amend -- oh, sorry.  I've got too many motion records in front of me here.  Here, reply submissions of compliance counsel on motion to amend, March 16th, 2012.

So it's my friend's reply submissions of compliance counsel on the motion to amend the notice of intention, March 16th, 2012.  And if you turn to paragraph 9 of that motion record -- of that submission, sorry, my friend is countering a suggestion that compliance counsel may not unilaterally amend the notice of intention which we had proposed in our materials, and in the third line he says:

"To clarify, this is not the case.  The notice of intention in the Summitt proceeding was issued by the Board, not by Board staff or compliance counsel, and it is the Board that must decide whether the amendment is its own notice of intention."

My friend has no actual knowledge of the notice of intention.  I take it he didn't draft it, someone in the Board did.  His statements in his letters to me and his statements before the Board today that it's a typographical error are no more than hearsay.  They're not supported by the evidence of anyone who drafted the notice of intention.  We have no way of cross-examining someone on an affidavit to say, was that a typographical error or did you really mean that intention, because it has been that way since April -- since August 2011, and I don't think that Summitt should be prejudiced on any standard by the fact that there is no evidence that it's a typographical error.

It's clearly on its face not a typographical error.  There's no spelling mistake, there is no grammatic mistake, and there's no punctuation mistake.  It's a mistake as to content, and we have no evidence at all, again, of typographical error before us.  And there is also no evidence before us of why someone couldn't give evidence who knew whether it was a typographical mistake or not.

Now, I'd ask you to return, if you wouldn't mind, to our memorandum of fact and law, which is the one from March -- in our original proceedings it's memorandum of fact and law of Summitt Energy Management Inc., motion and cross-motion returnable March 20th.

And if you have that handy, if you could turn to page -- paragraph 24.  It's on page 7.  And it references this -- the Queen v. Waugh case.  And the comment is very telling here, that:

"The Board should be concerned with the procedural fairness of Summitt, of the proposed amendments, which appear only to come to light after the December 22nd, 2011 procedural hearing date.  The Board must be vigilant not to allow compliance counsel to make the change fit the evidence rather than the other way around."

So we have no evidence this is a typographical error before the Board, and we have a chronology where the letters to me about change didn't come until the disclosure was -- until after the disclosure ordered by the Board was provided to us.  And I think a negative inference has to be taken from that.

Let's go to the next issue.  The next issue is the circumstance of the case.  So on the evidence I don't think there is any evidence that it's a typographical error or any evidence at all to support the proposed amendment.  So whether you take a civil standard, which I think is not applicable, or you take the higher standard, it surely hasn't been met.

But on the circumstances of the case, my friend suggested that disclosure has not been completed.  Well, unless this Board chooses to order further disclosure, compliance counsel's case, I take it, has been met.  He made a disclosure that you've ordered by January 10th.  He's provided the witness statements by the second date that he was to have done so.

And this is a serious case, contrary to the suggestion -- I mean, there is not life at risk here, but there is a conviction resulting in a fine, and there is also a conviction that will remain on Summitt Energy's record in relicensing hearings, and these do come up in relicensing hearings all the time.  The compliance record of the company will come up.

It's a serious matter for Summitt Energy for sure.  I don't think you should look at the quantum of the financial penalty as the issue.  It's more the principle here.

The other circumstance of the case is that, while this may seem to be a word or two change, it's a word or two change that has been suggested in increments.  There was firstly no change, and an assurance from the -- or our position in the December 22nd procedural hearing that we had to get on with this matter, and some pressure to do so.  There was then a proposal in January after disclosure to make an amendment to change "before" to "after" and "after", "before".  Then there was a further proposed amendment to the form you see today, which is to amend the wording and to add the phrase specifically referencing a spatial context to this case, which in our mind then brings into this whole issue the -- whether it's a temporal or spatial test, which we will speak to next in our next motion.

But the circumstances of the case do suggest that there should be some degree of vigilance on compliance counsel to meet the circumstances, because the implications of just making a small change here are significant to Summitt.

And the third element is, has Summitt been prejudiced or misled.  And I will get to our submissions on that in one second, but -- in our materials, but the reality is that from August 11th to -- from August 25th, 2011 to December 22nd, 2011, about a four-month period, Summitt really couldn't do anything here, because it didn't understand the charge.

And it's not upon Summitt to pursue compliance counsel.  It's upon compliance counsel to show the evidence it has to pursue -- it has to fulfil, and we had the procedural hearing to do that.

So this issue of August to December, we could have prepared and we could have done other things.  We would have been preparing a case to try to ask agents, You have been doing the wrong thing by complying with the law.  What have you been doing?  There would be no way we could really assemble any kind of evidence on that kind of case.

If I can take you, though, to our now reply submission again, and paragraph 29 of that.  This is the one reply memorandum of fact and law, Summitt Energy, March 16th, 2012.  And paragraph 29 on page 10.

These are statements of prejudice that don't really require an affidavit.  I mean, there are facts before the Board just in the pleadings we have in the affidavits to -- both Martin and my friend's affidavit, and, as well, in the decision of December 22nd.

We do know that it's been seven months now, just by calculating, since the notice of intention was issued, and I can't imagine the Board is going to issue a timetable at some point that is going to put a hearing off seven months from now.  It's not going to be as if that notice of intention didn't exist that was issued on August 25th, 2011.

There will be some timetable now that will force Summitt to have to meet a much more compressed time frame than the seven months that have passed.

And it may have been the case that had this proceeding been properly pleaded to start with, that there could have been another alternative solution to it that would have avoided the hearing we had in December, that would have avoided the hearing we have had now.

So I don't think someone can say you need an affidavit from someone to suggest that had the pleading properly been pleaded, there would have been an opportunity to consider a proper charge and an ability to determine whether there should be undertaking of performance or a plea for a hearing put in.

Thirdly, it's clear that depending upon what the outcome is of the Board's decision on the temporal versus spatial issue of the case, and even more clear by my friend's suggestion today that you if you determine it's a temporal case that he may not be proceeding with that charge, that the level of the evidence disclosed doesn't meet the second test.

So there is really no way that Summitt could prepare or assess based upon the evidence that has been provided so far.

And the last element is clearly Summitt has been put to significant expense in preparing for the December hearing and in preparing for this hearing, in marshalling the things it had to do between August and now, in dealing with its public impression and its community, and that's a real cost to Summitt.  It's money thrown away, depending on how the Board decides this matter.

I know that in regulatory proceedings, costs can be awarded.  I am not sure that we are really a party in an application.  We are more someone at the opposite end of a compliance matter.  I welcome the Board's advice of whether it would issue costs against the Board or against compliance counsel.

I am not so sure it would, and I am not counting on that circumstance.  I leave it open for the Board to make that decision.  But it is a significant issue that I don't think can necessarily be compensated in money.  I wouldn't necessarily say there has been no submissions based upon prejudice.

Now, if the Board chooses still to amend or allow the charge to be amended the way my friend proposes it, I think my friend is astute enough to have seen that if you then decide that it's a temporal decision, a temporal offence, that the amendment is by the by anyways, because you are amending a charge unknown to the law with another charge unknown to the law.

So that's why I have asked you to hold off making an actual decision, if you are going to go that far in this case, until you hear the second motion.

If the Board does choose to amend and it feels it's a temporal placement, I was next going to ask, but it sounds like my friend has already agreed that he won't -- he has agreed -- he has already advised he probably won't be proceeding with charge 1.  But if the Board chooses to amend and determines that it is a temporal test, then what I would suggest might be the appropriate thing to deal in this particular proceeding, on a cost-effective basis for everyone, is for the Board to convene through another procedure order a voir dire of some sort rule 8.04 to just look at the disclosure evidence on the basis that -- without saying it's valid or it's proper evidence, but just, on the assumption that it was all there, is there anything to support a temporal charge, because we don't believe there is so, based upon the way my friend has worded the charge.  And that may be a way to deal with it.

Now, let me address a few points that my friend has made, and then we can probably try to meet the noon or a little bit later.  I think I have addressed many of these points about my friend's suggestion about being compensated by costs or granting an adjournment.  I don't think a seven-month adjournment is in the cards, and I don't think that would really be appropriate to say we are starting over from ground one today with an adjournment.  So that is why I think Summitt is somewhat prejudiced in this.  This is not a civil proceeding.  It is a regulatory proceeding, and there are significant consequences for it.

My friend mentions the Winlow case.  I will just go quickly on a couple of points here.   We mentioned the Winlow case, as well, in our materials, as well, and I am not sure the case really stands for the proposition my friend is using it for.  It does deal with this point, but it's not really the proposition of that case.

We are not arguing that the timing of the notice was wrong.  He told us in January.  It hasn't been months and months and no -- he told us in January, and a few days later we requested the Board to issue a procedure order for the determination.

So I agree with my friend that if something can be amended, it can be amended pretty well at any time, so -- and notice doesn't have to be a formal notice.  It can be a letter or other thing.  That's not really the issue here.

No one is complaining that we didn't get notice from my friend that he wants to make the amendment.  We received the notice.  We requested the Board hold this proceeding.

The real issue is whether the underlying charge can be amended, and that's not the issue -- the issue in Winlow is not that.  The issue is about when the notice was given, and the issue in our case is not about when the notice was given.

My friend feels that perhaps we should have been able to get witness statements from people earlier.  I don't know how we would get witness statements without understanding what the charge would be.

The evidence that would come into play in this particular case would be evidence of the agents involved, and perhaps even the consumers involved, as to what their processes were.  And we are not clear on what the charge is until the Board determines it, so we are really not going to approach anybody until that happens.  And there is a very movable agents' pool.  People come and go, and we will have to track them down, I guess, if it comes to it.

But it is much different tracking them down in September 2011 when the notice of intention is dated August 25th than it is seven or eight months or nine months later.

Now, again, I addressed the Schmidt case my friend mentioned about the judge, on his own volition, adding the word "not".  This is not a circumstance where there is a word missing from this claim.  There is a word there, and my friend wants to substitute it.  And this is not a case where there's clearly evidence the word "not" was left out.

Lastly, the Irwin case, as well, the Irwin case is charge up.  So in the Irwin case, the essence of the Irwin case is that there was legitimate charge in place.  There was a trial on a legitimate charge in place.  It's just they wanted to substitute a charge in lieu of the charge that was legitimate in the first place, not a charge that was -- as it stood.

Absurd as it may sound that the charge should be dismissed, I think what's more important is the concept -- there is two concepts:  One, the due administration of justice before the Board.  The Board has to be seen as doing the right thing.  The Board can't be seen as simply making an amendment to save costs, to save time, if truly it's not a charge to begin with; and, secondly, there is the whole issue of due process to Summitt.

Summitt is entitled to due process and procedural fairness, and it's not just it may cost the Board more money in starting over again.  We are not involved in the drafting process.  There have been all kinds of costs incurred by Summitt, as well, that are unfair, and we would have to suffer those as well again, but that is not a determining factor of whether the charge should be amended.

So with that submission -- sorry, I also make a mention of -- the NMC case, as well my friend mentions, is also a case where there was a cogent underlying charge, not that there wasn't.  And they talk about lack of evidence by a -- prejudiced by affidavit.  There was a case of underlying charge.

So with that and the overriding concern that the Board has to both be seen to do the right thing and Summitt's entitlement to know the case it has to meet, and procedural fairness, we don't think my friend has championed his level of proof if he is entitled to make the amendment.

More importantly, the underlying charge itself is not a charge that is capable of being amended.  So those are our submissions.  Thanks.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Selznick.  Mr. Safayeni.
Reply Submissions by Mr. Safayeni:


MR. SAFAYENI:  Unfortunately, I do have reply.  It won't be too long.  Are you content to hear it now or would you like to have a break?

MR. QUESNELLE:  What is your estimate of time, Mr. Safayeni?

MR. SAFAYENI:  Realistically, 10 to 15 minutes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much.  Yes, go ahead.

MR. SAFAYENI:  First, with respect to the proposition that this is an offence under section -- or should be considered analogous to an offence under section 126, which of course it could have been to begin with, and therefore this grounds basing the test around the POA test, which is what my friend said to you.

I would just say that I think it's a bit of a stretch to say that if Summitt is found guilty in this proceeding and if it does not comply with the resulting order, and if the Board then chooses based on Summitt's non-compliance on the resulting order to bring a proceeding under section 126 or under the Provincial Offences Act, so that act should apply now, is a bit of a stretch.  We are not under the Provincial Offences Act.  If that was the logic, any proceeding before the Board should have the Provincial Offences Act procedural requirements, because any proceeding could potentially result in an order that's breached that then results in a Provincial Offences Act matter.  So that reasoning is flawed.

Second, there are two kind of considerations being put in front of you.  The first is that the charge is a non-offence.  Now, that assumes the temporal interpretation.  In other words - and I am going to try and make this as clear as possible - you can't amend a nullity.  A nullity doesn't arise because of the word "before" instead of the word "after".  A nullity arises because the charge could never be true even if there were an amendment.  The charge could never be true if this has to do with physical placement and you conclude that it's a temporal offence.  That's a nullity.  That's a nullity that can't be amended.  That is why we are abandoning the motion if you conclude that his interpretation is right and my interpretation is wrong.

If you conclude that this is a physical ordering offence and the paragraph just says the word "after" instead of the word "before", that's not a nullity that can't be cured by an amendment, and to do that would really be process over form -- form over substance, rather, and that's not the way things are supposed to proceed before this Board.  It's not the way things are supposed to proceed under the Provincial Offences Act.

Regarding the argument that we can't use the civil standard because the civil standard applies between parties that are, my friend said, both choose to be part of the process, I would just simply ask you to ask a defendant in a civil proceeding whether they have ever chosen to be part of that process.

Parties to a civil proceeding are joined and are forced to go through it, and in that context they resist amendments, and in that context the court applies the test that I outlined.

The idea that it's not a typo because there is no grammatical or spelling mistake is -- I am not sure what the proposition for that is.  I don't have a dictionary for the definition of "typo", but as you'd note in the Schmidt case, the court there called it a typo when it inserted the word "not", and that sentence was otherwise completely fine in the terms of grammar and punctuation and syntax, so there is an example of a court just offhand in our materials calling something a typo when there was no grammatical, punctuation, spelling error.

MS. SPOEL:  Can I just ask you on that one?  It seems to me that in the Schmidt case there were a number of allegations and paragraphs, and in each paragraph it said "was not" --


MR. SAFAYENI:  Right.

MS. SPOEL:  -- and in that one paragraph the word "not" was missing, so perhaps as a matter of context it was fairly easy for the judge to conclude that --


MR. SAFAYENI:  Right.

MS. SPOEL:  -- nobody was -- now, in this case if you had set out 25 -- there were 25 contracts, if there had been 25 allegations and one of them had said "before" instead of "after" or "after" instead of "before", maybe -- would that not be more analogous to the Schmidt situation than where you only had one charge?

MR. SAFAYENI:  I take your point, and I think that that's a fair observation, but I am using the Schmidt case to say that's something the court did on its own motion, okay?  There wasn't -- if the court had done it -- well, I mean, I think that's important, because it was so obvious the court did it on its own motion.

In this case we are arguing it before you.  We are having to bring something.  You have to consider it.  It requires more consideration.  I am not denying that.

But we still have to look at the full context.  The context here is that the regulatory provisions are cited.  The regulatory provisions set out the right order.  The contracts are cited.  The contracts have the signatures in a certain order.  There is no way you can look at this and think anything other than this was a simple mistake, a mistake that we are now trying to correct.

In any event, I just wanted to refer to the Schmidt case for the idea of a typo not being a grammatical -- confined to a grammatical error.

The other way that my friend frames this is that there is an omission of a central averment.  So the one way he frames that is that it's a nullity so it didn't exist, and the second way he frames it is that it's an omission of a central averment.

This is a doctrine taken from the criminal-law context.  And I have already cautioned you against importing criminal-law doctrines into this proceeding, which is decidedly not a criminal proceeding.

This idea of a central averment has not been cited in any non-criminal context, and I won't take you there, because you have done enough page-turning, but for a simple, pithy statement of why we should not import criminal-law doctrines and principles into the regulatory context, the Clothier case, which is at tab 1 of my supplementary book of authorities -- that's the document book dated March 19th -- sets this out.  It's tab 1, paragraph 32.  We don't have to go there, just in case you want support for that.

Even if we are talking about a central averment, what is central and missing in this case?  The word "before" instead of the word "after"?  It wasn't exactly set out what the central averment that is missing is, and I am not sure -- I would submit that that's because that doctrine really doesn't apply here, putting aside the fact it's a criminal-law doctrine and shouldn't apply.

With respect to the onus of proving prejudice, my friend suggests that it's on compliance counsel to prove a lack of prejudice.  I am not sure how this would work in practice, how we would prove a lack of prejudice to Summitt.

More importantly, though, from a principled basis, none of the cased cited support this.  There is no authority for this proposition at all.  In fact, if we look at the cases that are in the authorities, specifically the Winlow case, at paragraph 87 -- I apologize, but I will take you to it.  It's on the reply submissions, tab 2.

The Winlow case says:

"On the record..."

At paragraph 87 it says:

"On the record..."

I can just read it to you:

"...we have no evidence that the police officer misled Mr. Winlow.  We have no evidence that Mr. Winlow was prejudiced or coerced by the prosecutor's proposed amendment.  We have no evidence that he was pressured into proceeding."

It doesn't say we have no evidence that there is a lack of prejudice, it says we have no evidence of prejudice.


The NMC case is just as clear.  I already took you to that.  What it says:

"NMC -- I do not consider that NMC or Stanford is prejudiced.  Neither filed an affidavit alleging it was prejudiced."

It doesn't say the Crown or the authorities did not file evidence that there was a lack of prejudice.  The onus is clearly on Summitt as the party who knows all the facts relating to prejudice to put in evidence of prejudice, and there is none here.

Regarding the Scaff case -- this is the case that my friend cited from the Quebec College of Optometrists -- it's 25 years old.  It was decided in Quebec, which is a completely different jurisdiction, different system of law, actually.  It's never been subsequently considered or applied in Ontario.

And even if we look at that decision, I actually think it's helpful to our side.  If you look at the decision at paragraph 5, it says:

"I would not wish to be understood as saying that faulty, ambiguous, or imprecise wording, even where it goes to the heart of the matter, cannot sometimes be cured by amendment.  It often can, but that is not the case before us."

And they go out to say that the case before them is clear, the intention of what was charged is clear, and it doesn't relate to an offence.  That's not the case here.

Just three more very quick points.  Summitt argues that this is a serious case.  I am actually glad that Summitt acknowledged this, because it augers in favour of allowing an amendment.

If you look back to the NMC decision, which is at -- you don't have to go there right now.  It's at tab B1 of my reply submissions.  The bottom of page 14 the court makes it clear that the fact that it's a serious case means that the thing should be amended.  The proceedings shouldn't be ended because of a technicality, and it should go forward.  So the more serious this case is, the more important it is that we proceed and we don't let this be defeated by a technical irregularity.


The second last point, the notion of a voir dire, in my submission, this is completely unnecessary in this context.  A voir dire, again, is something imported from the criminal law standard context.  There is no authority cited by my friend for having it occur in any regulatory proceeding, much less before this Board.


The chance to test the evidence is at a trial, in this case at a hearing.  There is no requirement for a voir dire.


And, finally, because my friend insists so much that the Provincial Offences Act is the proper context, I just want to take you briefly, and I will request that you turn to tab 2 in my supplementary book of authorities that's dated March 19th.


This is a decision of the Ontario Court of Justice.  This is a provincial offence matter.  So despite my initial position, my first position, being that we shouldn't be under the Provincial Offences Act, even if we decide -- even if the Board decides that this should be looked at within that framework, this decision provides a nice encapsulation of the principles and how technical arguments, like the argument advanced by Summitt today, simply should not be accepted.


If we look at page 6 starting at paragraph 27, under the heading "Substance Over Form", the Court, quoting from various other judgments and texts, starts and says:

"When the defence wishes to attack the validity of any summons or the charging document itself on a procedural or technical error, the purpose and aim of the Provincial Offences Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. P.33, that governs the procedure for the provincial offences must be first considered. No longer are charges routinely dismissed or quashed when 'the i's are not dotted or the t's are not crossed'.  That era no longer exists."


Moving down two paragraphs to the second indented paragraph, it says:

"That age has passed.  Parliament has made it abundantly clear in those sections of the Criminal Code having to do with the form of indictments and informations that the punctilio of an earlier age is no longer to bind us.  We must look for substance and not petty formalities."


On the next page, it says:

"The overall philosophy of the Provincial Offences Act is to ensure that technical objections do not to impede the arrival of a verdict on its merits."


Moving down, it quotes from Hutchison Rose and Downes on The Law of Traffic Offences.  It says:

"It is important to remember that the central purpose of the modern procedural statutes like the Provincial Offences Act has been to eliminate unnecessary 'technicalities' from regulatory prosecutions.  It was not intended that a purely formal defect should be fatal to a charging document.  The main consideration in these cases is to be the effect of the defect on the parties and their rights under procedures available under the Act.  Even a substantive error..."


This is important:

"Even a substantive error may be allowed if it is possible for the court to correct the error without depriving the defendant of his right to know and defend the charge against him."

And, finally, if we turn the page to paragraph 28, this is the court now speaking after looking at all these principles:

"While substance prevails over form under the Criminal Code of Canada, I am satisfied that this tenet is even more valid under the Provincial Offences Act."


And I would add even more valid under a regulatory proceeding before this Board.


And I would just conclude by saying that without getting mired in all the technical legal doctrines put before you today, the Board should take a step back and consider what the issue is before it.  If it chooses not to grant the amendment, this whole process is going to have to be started over again, to what end?  To the end of replacing one word with another and including in brackets the words "physical placement".


Surely there is a disagreement between the parties on what the provisions mean, but there is no mystery as to what the allegations are.  The provisions are cited in the paragraph, which lead to the correct wording, which is in the regulations, which set out the order.  The contracts are referred to in the paragraph, and, if you look at the contracts, there is only one way to look at the order of the things on the contract, and Summitt has been on notice, through the disclosure motion and correspondence, since those events occurred.


Subject to any questions, those are my submissions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Okay, the Panel has no questions, Mr. Safayeni.  Thank you very much.  We will take a lunch break until 1:30, and we will come back and the Panel will have deliberated as to what next steps we will take this afternoon.

So if counsel will be prepared to move to the second motion, that would be helpful.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:19 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:32 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good afternoon.

Any preliminary matters that we have to discuss? Anything come up over the break?  Conversations?  No?  Okay.  Great.

All right.  Well, having heard the motion from this morning, the Panel has elected to move on and then hear the second motion before rendering any decisions on the first.  So we will reserve our decision on that and hear the second motion from Summitt, and that -- Mr. Selznick, we will ask you to introduce and supply your oral arguments.
Submissions by Mr. Selznick:

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

So this is the companion motion by Summitt Energy for the Board Panel's interpretation of Subsections 17 and 18 of section 7(1) of Ontario Regulation 389/10.  And this has its genesis out of the discussion that arose on the December 22nd, 2011 procedural hearing, where it became quite clear that compliance counsel and Summitt had a diametrically opposed view of what the offences -- or what would constitute an offence under those two sections.

So just -- I am not going to take you back and forth to materials often.  I think we should have two pieces of materials in front of you.  I think one you should have is the memorandum of fact and law of Summitt Energy on the motion -- on the motion and cross-motion.  That's with our original materials, and it has the two tabs, A and B, attached to it.

MS. SPOEL:  Ours aren't bound.  And is one of the tabs schedule A, statutory and regulatory provisions?

MR. SELZNICK:  That's correct.  I apologize.  There were bound ones sent up.  I am not sure where they went.

MS. SPOEL:  Signed and dated March 12th.

MR. SELZNICK:  Correct.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. SELZNICK:  That one document, and then my friend's - because he has a complete copy of the regulations at hand - my friend's written submissions of compliance counsel on the motion for a declaration interpreting section 7(1)17 and 7(1)18 of Regulation 389, dated March 16th.  If you would have that handy.  That has quite a -- has a number of tabs to it.

MS. SPOEL:  And that's dated March 16th.

MR. SELZNICK:  March 16th, correct.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  I have that.

MR. SELZNICK:  I am going to refer to my friend's -- the only thing in that material I am actually going to refer to specifically is tab A2, which is a complete copy of the Regulation 389/10.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. SELZNICK:  So the, I guess 10,000-foot view on the two opposite positions as my friend has expressed in his materials, as well as in our materials, is that compliance counsel takes the position that these two subsections of section 7(1) create a physical placement or spatial placement offence that if the signatures are not in the correct physical order on the page the offence has been made out, and Summitt Energy takes the position that these two sections create a temporal offence that if the contract is not first signed by the consumer and Summitt and then acknowledged by the consumer as having received a text-based copy the offence is made out.  If those things don't happen in that order the offence is made out.

Now, I think since we have submitted our materials, both my friend and I, there are some things we can agree upon which makes the submission a little bit simpler without having to go through it all.

I will argue these points if you think it's worth doing it, but I think that succinct statement is probably the two positions of the parties.

I think there is also a consensus in my friend's materials and in ours that the Energy Consumer Protection Act and the regulations under it are consumer-protection legislation.  I think that's identified in our materials, and my friend, I think, makes that statement as well.

I won't argue that unless my friend has great issue with it.  I will return to it after, but I think we can take that as the case, and if not, our materials speak to why it is, including excerpts from the legislative committee who were negotiating the line-by-line on the contract and the Ontario Energy Association's submissions to that legislative committee that are full of references to it being consumer-protection legislation.

I think -- sorry.

MS. SPOEL:  We don't see -- I don't think there is any issue that it's consumer-protection legislation.  I don't think we need to hear argument.

MR. SAFAYENI:  That's correct.  We do not challenge that position, no.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. SELZNICK:  And I think we are also somewhat in agreement that the word "signature", just the English word "signature", means the maker's mark on the page and not the place where the maker puts his mark, not the line or the box where the signature would be per se.  And our materials speak extensively to those definitional sections from cases that deal with it and the statutory interpretation.

And I also think my friend and I probably agree on the approach to interpret the act and the legislation of looking at the text, looking at the context of the text, and looking at the prepositive basis of -- or prepositive examination provided to give the act some meaning within the legislative framework.

And I think where we disagree is on, when you apply that three-pronged test, where we end up, and I think our position is that when you apply that three-pronged test the better approach to take is that these sections create a temporal offence, and if we can start just by going to our memorandum of fact and law, which I asked you to keep in front of you.  And I apologize, you don't have the tab-based copies.  They were sent up, and I think they were somewhere between reception and your office.

But under tab A, the statutory and regulatory provisions, if you would just turn to the second page of that tab, you will see the excerpt there of section 7(1) of Ontario Regulation 389/10.  And this section basically lists 18 items that have to be in a contract for low-energy consumer sale for the contract to be properly informed, and the two subsections that we are specifically speaking about but I am going to mention other ones here are on the next page, 17 and 18.

And they both have an exception for references to section 9, and although that's not reproduced here, they are in the full regulations my friend has.  That deals with Internet-entered contracts where there wouldn't be a door-to-door presence.  So there is a different signing process for those kinds of contracts, so they are excepted from this process.

But essentially is, they provide the signature, and we have come to some agreement, I guess, and my friend can speak to it if not, but the signature is the actual mark of the person signing, and printed name of the consumer, or the consumer, the account holder's agent signing the contract on behalf of the consumer, and the person signing the contract on behalf of the supplier, in this case Summitt, have to be at the bottom of the contract before the acknowledgment in paragraph 18, and then in paragraph 18 it provides that the acknowledgment to be signed and dated by the consumer or its agent that he has received a text-based copy following those signatures, those signatures in paragraph 17.

And it's our position, as I have stated, that the text on its face is clear that the use of the words in paragraph 17 of "before" in the very last line and the use of the word "following" in 18 are a temporal reference.  There has to be a contract signed, first step, and then there has to be an acknowledgment signed, next step.

And we say that because it's, one, a clear wording of the act and now the regulation, and as -- and in keeping with the, I guess the consumer-protection intent that there actually be a contract in place before the consumer acknowledges that there has, one, that he has received a text-based copy of it, obviously by which he is bound.

Now, the -- Mr. Safayeni argued very vehemently in his submissions this morning that we should be looking at substance over form in these types of proceedings, and this is, I guess, a perfect example of that type of substantive approach to this matter.  It would be too easy in a consumer protection type of legislation to say simply, if you have the spaces for signatures or the signatures appearing in a physical order, without any context of what order those signatures were put in, in time and place.  It may very well be that the consumer protection aspect of the consumer actually being bound by a contract is defeated.

It's very easy to have a consumer sign several paragraphs of a contract and never have one signed by Summitt and a signature later put on by Summitt, which is not in keeping with the temporal ordering of the process, but complies with the format of the contract on paper.

So I think we have to -- when you look at this issue of looking at the text itself, the context of the legislation and the purpose of the legislation, we have to look at the substantive aspect, not necessarily the form, per se.

Now, the ordinary meaning and context, well, signatures, we I think have somewhat of an agreement in our materials between the two of us that that means where the person actually -- the actual signature of the person signing.

And the section itself, if you turn to the page previously on the materials I just asked you to look at in that tab A, it deals with the contract requirements, and 7(1) says the contract has to have the following items in it, and these 18 things.

Our position, it doesn't use the word "following" in that sentence, and I am going to walk you through certain other paragraphs of the regulations where the word "following" is used.  "Following" in this regulation is used in the two contexts as we see it, neither of which are a spatial or physical placement context.  They are used to refer to an itemization in the regulation, not in the contract - an itemization in the regulation - or they are used to refer to a temporal statement in the contract.

They are not used to refer to a spatial term or a placement term in the contract.  Words like "below" are used for that purpose.

So if we look at the first opening line of section 7(1), it says, "A contract must contain the following", and, in addition, have the requirements of clearly legible and a specific font size so we get away from small print, and then it names 18 things.

It doesn't use the "following" in the terms of the contract.  Again, it's the "following" in terms of this section of the legislation, "following" in the -- it's not a temporal reference.  It's not a spatial reference.  It's just an itemization reference.

And if you look at these 18 items, and I will just quickly run through them, neither of them are required by this section, other than the two we have mentioned, section 17 and 18, to be in any sort of temporal or other order.

So paragraph 1 is it has to contain the name, business, address and telephone number of the supplier, and the fax number, website address, e-mail address and toll-free numbers of the supplier.  It doesn't say it has to be at the top of the page before anything else.  It doesn't have to say before anything else.  It doesn't have to say after the registration number.  It is just somewhere on the form that information has to be there.

Paragraph 2 it has to have their licence number.  I assume there would be no offence if the licence number was in front of or ahead of item number 1.  It has to have, paragraph 3, the name of the consumer.  Paragraph 4, it has to have the printed name of the consumer.  Paragraph 5, it has to have the physical date the contract is entered into, some other information.

Paragraph 6 on the next page, it has to have calculational information.  Paragraph 7, it has to have terms of payment.  Now, it doesn't have to say where those terms of payment have to be.  They have to be in the contract, though.

And the paragraph 8 is the consumer's right to withdraw from the contract on ten days' notice.  Here they use the word "after", so here is a temporal reference to the word "after"; not the word "following", but the word "after".  So, clearly, the word "after" in paragraph 8 is temporal reference to ten days after the consumer acknowledges receipt.

Nine talks about -- sorry, 9 talks about a statement that if they do cancel within that ten-day period, what they are entitled to.

Again, you will see it goes through each of those paragraphs and not one really deals with something that could be temporal or positional, but for, I guess, that reference to "after", and 17 and 18, which talks in 17 about "before" and 18, which talks about "following".  I will come to those two words in a moment.

So on itself, there is nothing that this section teaches us just by the way these 18 things are ordered, that other than for 17 and 18 there is any real temporal nature of the relationship, other than that paragraph 9.

Now, if we look at how the legislation uses words like "before" or "follows", I am going to suggest that it uses those only in two sentences.  It used the word "before" only in the sense of a temporal period.  So we will leave for a moment the use of the word "before" in subsection 17, because that's a hotly contested issue here, but let's look at the regulation to see how "before" was used otherwise in this regulation.  And we will also look at the word "following".

Our position is that the word "before" throughout the regulation is only used in a temporal sense, so it follows naturally that it should be used in this section in a temporal sense.  And the word "following" is only used in one of two senses.  It's used to determine the listing purposes of the legislation in paragraphs that say "the following apply", or whatever, or it's used with reference to a contract to reference a temporal setting.

So if you can now turn to my friend's -- the one I asked you to keep out handy, the written submissions of compliance counsel on a motion for a declaration interpreting section 7(1)17 and 18, and if you go to my friend's tab A2, you will see a copy of Ontario Regulation 389/10.

And I just want to do a little bit of a page flip for you to show you some highlighted sections that we've placed here not on your copy, but on our copy, to where these words come about. The first -- I mean, there are probably more, but I am just highlighting various ones we have been able to indicate now.

So if I can take you to the third page of that tab at the very bottom, "Unfair Practices", 5(1).  So this 5(1) makes it unfair practice to knowingly make a false or misleading statement, et cetera, and the very last reference here relating to "one or more of the following".

So that's an example of "following" being used in the same way as the opening of section 7(1).  It's just a listing.  It doesn't say that they are worse off if they are number one or number ten, or whatever.  It is just a listing of items, and it then lists a whole bunch of acts that shouldn't take place.

If you go to paragraph 7 of that, point 7 of that, which is two pages farther on, so off the back of the next page and over across the page, number 7 it says:
"If a person acting on behalf of the supplier enters into a contract in person with the consumer, the failure by that person to give the consumer..."


And here we have an example of:
"A text-based copy of the contract, including the disclosure statement, before the consumer enters into the contract..."


So here we have this example of the word "before" being used in a temporal sense.  So here we have an example the text-based contract, has to be -- with the disclosure statement, has to be given before the consumer enters into the contract.

Not to anticipate my friend's argument, but this is an example of perhaps where my friend's argument falls down by saying that there could never be a contract if the acknowledgement wasn't following in blank form, because it wouldn't be there.  But here is an example where you have to actually give the text of the contract before there is an acknowledgement signed at the end.

If we turn over to the next page, section 7(1), we have the wording that we have been talking about in the opening there, "A contract must contain the following".  There is an itemization of 18, which I think is neither temporal nor spatial.  It's just a listing.

If we turn the page over further and look at paragraph 9, which deals with contracts over the Internet, the supplier has to ensure the following things happen, and if we go to subparagraph (h), here is an example where I think clearly there is a spatial component.  Paragraph (h), if you enter a contract over the Internet, one of the things that have to happen in paragraphs 9(h) is that -- the word "below the signature":
"...that below the signature contemplated in clause (g), two boxes are displayed with a request that the consumer check only one to either..."


So here we have a circumstance where a contract is entered over the Internet.  There obviously isn't the face to face that would happen with our contracts under section 7, and the specific requirement of a placement of boxes below the signature.  Now, quite clearly that word "below" is not used in section 7(1), 17 and 18.  The word "following" is used.  So I think we can take from that if the legislator would have really wanted to intend a physical placement concern in section 7(1) they would have used the word "below" as they have done here.

If we look at paragraph 10, continue on in this regulation, 10(1) -- 10(2), rather, (a).  And here we have a reference to the word "after".  Now, after is not the word that's used in (1)17 or (1)18 of section 7, but here is an example of where "after" is referred to, sort of the spatial time immediately after, so the word "after" as well is used as a temporal sense.

I am not going to pick up every "after" and every "before", because they go on and on here, but I did want to show you -- so paragraph 19, for example, contract amendments.  It's farther along:

"(2) the amendment takes effect only if the consumer consents to the amendment by telephone or in writing not less than 60 days before the amendment is effective."

There is another example of "before" being used in a temporal sense.

In paragraph 21(e), there the word "before" is also used in the temporal sense, "before the expiry of the term".  It's not used in a physical placement sense.

And we have numerous examples of "before".  I am trying to be conscious of the time here.  We can go through these on and on, but what I do want to take you to is, if we could move forward, is section 35, for example -- actually, section 33, 35, and 36.  They are all on the same page.

And these are examples where again "following" is used in the statute for the regulatory sense of the listing in the regulation, not in the contract.

And then lastly I just want to take you, if you can flip farther along, to section 41(4), so on page 41, flip over to the next page, (4), and it reads:

"Information required by subsection 3 be provided to a the consumer must be printed in a clearly legible typeface having a font size of at least 12 and included on the front page of, on a separate insert with, the first invoice issued to the consumer following the earlier of..."

And that's a temporal reference to the word "following".  So much like our reference in section 17(1), you can compare this to be an example of where "following" is used.  They didn't use the word "below" in section 17, they have used the word "following signatures".

So the only place we find "following" in this regulation that's not used in the regulatory sense of a listing is in a temporal sense such as this.  And I think that's consistent with the language in the materials.

Now, the prepositive interpretation of the legislation I think draws us to circle back on our first discussion, and that is the discussion concerning the fact that it's consumer-protection legislation.  This issue has been the subject of hotly negotiated line-by-line analysis.  And if I can draw you to -- oh, I should have set one other thing out.  Mr. Martin's affidavit of March 12th, which is our original materials, I just want to take you to one exhibit quickly that -- to refer you to a quote from the actual committee who did the line-by-line on this.

So it's Mr. Martin's affidavit of March 12th, 2012.  And it's Exhibit N to that affidavit, which is the legislative -- excerpts from the Hansard Legislative Assembly.  And if you can flip to page numbered 3 of that.  Oh, N as in Norman.

And there is a statement here, and I would invite you, you know, in the decision-making process as you review these materials to take a look at this entire enclosure, because we have highlighted references to consumer-protection legislation, but one specific sentence is the sentence in the middle -- or just below the middle paragraph on page 3 that's been highlighted that says -- and I will just -- or actually, just probably read the sentence above that into that highlighted part:

"The industry itself was doing a review of its practices, finding best practices and improving the door-to-door opportunities.  The legislation that is before you..."

And I guess here is the key language:

"...is designed to improve the disclosure and, as said by Mr. Iacobucci on various occasions and us, to make sure the consumer protection is a first wave that we are talking about."

And it seems to me too easy a work-around on a simple format basis to say that because how after the fact the appearance of signed signatures on a page appear will be the determining factor of how the contract was entered into, defeats the purposes of this committee's intention in the legislation.

It can only mean that there has to be a contract in place between the parties.  It doesn't really say which party has to sign first, the supplier or the consumer, but as long as the consumer and the supplier sign and have an agreement and then the consumer acknowledges having received a text-based copy.

That's the ordering that should apply in this discussion, and at that juncture I am probably going to turn it over to my friend to speak, and I will reserve any comments to reply, unless you have questions --


MS. SPOEL:  I just have one question, and that is, is there any -- is there anywhere else in the regulation that deals with the actual process of the signing up?  I mean, that section 7 has what the contract has to contain, but is there anything else you can point us to that deals with the kind of the conduct of business --


MR. SELZNICK:  If you --


MS. SPOEL:  -- apart from Internet parts you have already referred to.

MR. SELZNICK:  I will rely on my expert beside me, Ms. Girardi, but I can tell you that if you go to the unfair-practices section, section 5 --


MS. SPOEL:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  -- that deals with the -- to a large part the process of selling and how the contract is sold.

MS. SPOEL:  Right.

MR. SELZNICK:  Right.  But beyond that -- and I will defer -- no, there is no other provision in the regulation.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Safayeni?
Submissions by Mr. Safayeni:

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  Thank you.  I will try and be brief.

And my friend is indeed right that there is agreement on the points that he suggested there is agreement on, so I think the general principles we're in agreement on.  We are in agreement that it is consumer-protection legislation.  We are in agreement that we are dealing with the requirement of the signatures, although I just want to specify one thing.  It gets a little bit cumbersome to keep referring to the language in these provisions because, for example, section 7(1)17 requires both -- two signatures and a printed name and section 7(1)18 requires a signature and the text of the acknowledgment, so I am just -- I just want to refer to it as we are talking about either the requirements in 7(1)17 have to come before the requirements in 7(1)18 or before meeting -- sorry, physically before -- I should make that very clear -- or they have to come temporally before it, but I don't want to just use "signatures" and have that be construed as only the signature requirement, because there's other requirements, right?  There is two signatures, and there is a printed name in 7(1)17, and 18 requires both a signature and an acknowledgment.  So --


MS. SPOEL:  Can I just ask you before we -- because I think I know what you are -- without hearing it all, I have a general idea, I think, of where your argument is going about the order, but is there anything -- if it's merely a matter of the order in which these things -- or that the requirement is that the order in which these things appear on the page --


MR. SAFAYENI:  Right.

MS. SPOEL:  -- must be in this -- a certain order, to get away from using words like "before" and "following", that they have to be in a certain order for it to be a valid contract, is there anything else in this legislation that says that they have to be signed and names printed and whatever the other requirements, that they have to be signed in a certain order in time?

MR. SAFAYENI:  Not explicitly, although you would only acknowledge receiving a copy of a contract after that contract exists, and a contract would only exist after you have signed it; in other words, acknowledging a copy of a contract cannot occur before that contract exists.  The contract cannot exist before the consumer has signed it.

So implicit in the very idea of acknowledging receipt of a contract is that the contract has been signed.  You are not going to acknowledge a piece of paper that says a contract but not sign the contract.  You haven't acknowledged a contract.  You have acknowledged an incomplete agreement that you have not signed.

MS. SPOEL:  But what about if the consumer signed the contract and the supplier, in this case Summitt, but whoever, hadn't signed it, but the consumer then acknowledged a receipt of -- would all consumers understand that, to be a contract, it has to have been signed by both, or would they maybe think that the contract was a piece of paper that they have already signed that has -- the pricing and all the other information that has to be included has been filled in, so there is no allegation or no suggestion in this example that that hasn't happened, but that maybe someone might acknowledge receiving something that hasn't got all the signatures of it.

MR. SELZNICK:  If I can be of assistance, and I apologize.  Ms. Girardi just pointed out to me section 10 of the regulation does talk about the effect of -- the timing of giving the acknowledgement in 10(1)(a) and (b).

MS. SPOEL:  Yes, sorry.  I asked you that before, didn't I?

MR. SELZNICK:  I think this goes to the question you are proposing now, and the risk you run is that the consumer, once they sign the text-based acknowledgement, is deemed to have acknowledged the contract.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay, thank you.  Maybe that answers my question.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  Well, I think that everything has to be -- all the requirements of the contract have to be met for it to be a valid contract.  Even if the consumer in their mind thinks, I have signed a contract, the question of whether a contract exists or not is an objective one.  And for a contract to exist, it has to meet the requirements, and the requirements set out that the account holder's agent also has to sign it.

So whether the consumer thinks -- I mean, we are in the realm of conjecture as to whether the consumer thinks or not, but the question of a contract is an objective one at law, right?

Okay, sorry, with that general -- with that general detour, I just want to return to the point, and I will say very briefly, that when I use the term "signatures" as I maybe want to do because this is a little bit of a cumbersome language, I am referring to everything in 7(1)17 and everything in 7(1)18; okay?

With that brief detour, I know you have read the submissions.  I know this has been a long day.  I am not going to take you through the submissions paragraph by paragraph.  I will take you briefly, before getting into kind of a highlight reel of my submissions, to the idea of the golden rule of statutory interpretation.  This is something that my friend I think accepts, the often-quoted paragraph from Professor Sullivan, who is the leading expert, and I am sure you have become more familiar with than you ever cared to, is that:
"Today there is only one principle or approach.  The words of an act are to be read in their entire context and their grammatical and ordinary sense, harmoniously within the scheme of the act, the object of the act, the intention of Parliament."

This goes to the three kind of broad things we look at.  We look at text.  We look at context.  We look at purpose.  And my friend has taken you through his reading on those three, and now I am going to take you through mine.

As a practical matter, I think decision makers struggle a little bit with how to effect Sullivan's overarching principle to the concrete task of interpreting the words before you, and I submit that how this is done is through a series of principles and presumptions that courts and other decision makers have developed throughout the years.

It's through applying these rules and principles that we are able to determine the text, the context and the purpose and the ultimate objective, which is the right interpretation.  So I want to go through some of those rules and principles with you here today.

What is absolutely indefensible under the modern approach to statutory interpretation is looking at words in isolation.  And I submit to you that at the end of the day, that's what Summitt's approach amounts to.  It's looking at the words "before" and "following".  It's looking at these words divorced of context, and it is urging an interpretation upon you that doesn't properly recognize the full context.

As Professor Sullivan says, words in isolation are virtually meaningless, and I think that will become clear once we take a look at the full context today.

First, though, let's start with the text of the provisions.  I am not going to be going beyond my written submissions dated March 16th, which my friend has already taken you to in the course of his submissions, for the full text of the regulations.  And can I get you to turn to that tab now, please?  It's tab A-2.  And the starting point is that words are assumed to have their ordinary meaning until this assumption becomes untenable.

Now, I appreciate that the idea of an ordinary meaning may not be quite as simple as it appears sometimes, and my friend has urged on you one plain, clear and ordinary meaning, and I am going to urge upon you another.  If we look at section 7(1), it says:
"A contract must contain the following, be clearly legible and, except for the information to be added at the time the contract is entered into, must be in a typeface having a font size of at least 12..."


I would submit to you that this suggests a list of textual requirements.  That's why we are talking about a typeface size.  That's why we are talking about it being legible.  That's the context in which this list is set up.

If it wanted to set out things about the general conditions under which a contract was signed, that language is, at best, an awkward introduction for any such provisions.  If we look at the title of the section - and I have set out in my factum that -- the reference to why a title of a provision is a helpful tool in order to shed light on the content of the sub-provisions under that section.

If you look at the title of this section, "Contract Requirements", in my submission, this relates to what is in the contract, the requirements for what a contract must have.  Elsewhere in the regulations, there are broader titles, and in those sections we look at things about the process, the timing, the circumstances.

For example, if we look at section 9, section 9 doesn't say internet contract requirements.  It says, "Contracts entered into over the Internet".  That is broader.  The word "requirements" is not modifying the document contract; rather, we have a general kind of heading having to do with all sorts of requirements about contracts entered into over the Internet.

If section 7 was meant to address all manners of things about contracting, about the timing, about the circumstances, about the order, it might just say "contracts" or the "contracting process" or "text-based contracts", not something so specific as "requirements in a contract".

Now, let's go to the provisions themselves.  I call these in my submissions the signature provisions, so I may use that term.  When I say that, I am referring to both of the provisions together.

Now, if you look at subsection 17 - and I am going to just kind of excerpt it here to make it a little less cumbersome - it says:  The contract must contain the following, the signature and printed name of the consumer or the account holder's agent signing on behalf of the consumer and of the person signing on behalf of a supplier.

And here is the key phrase, in my submission:
"...at the bottom of the contract and before the acknowledgement described in paragraph 18."


I just want to focus on "at the bottom of the contract and before the acknowledgement".  The word "before" is one of many words that my friend -- or, sorry, one of two words.  "Before" and "following" are the two words that my friend seizes on for the idea that it's temporal.

I don't agree, but let's assume, for the sake of argument, that "before" has two meanings, at least, in this context, that it could support a temporal interpretation, as my friend argues, and it could support a physical placement interpretation, as I am arguing.

This situation is not unknown to law, to have an ambiguous term that admits of two different meanings.  Now, in this situation, there is a rule that has been applied by courts routinely by all the way up to Supreme Court called the associated words rule, and this is one way they have helped to resolve an ambiguity.

If you turn to the text of my submissions, perhaps keeping your finger on the tab, because we will be returning to that momentarily, if you turn to paragraph 27 in my submissions, you will see the excerpt from Professor Sullivan quoting a bunch of cases, including a case from our Court of Appeal, where she describes this associated-words rule.  And if you bear with me, I'm just going to read it, because I think it's important:

"The associated-words rule is properly invoked when two or more terms linked by "an" or "or" serve an analogous grammatical and logical function with a provision.  This parallelism invites the reader to look for a common feature among the terms.  This feature is then relied on to resolve ambiguity or limit the scope of the terms.  Often the terms are restricted to the scope of their broadest common denominator."

Professor Sullivan then quotes from the Court of Appeal in the Queen v. Goulis:

"When two words which are susceptible of analogous meanings are coupled together, they are to be understood in their cognate sense.  They take their colour from each other, the meaning of the more general being restricted to a sense analogous to the less general."

In my submission, this is exactly what we have here.  We have two phrases.  We have "at the bottom of the contract" and "before the acknowledgment", we have a link through the word "and", we have one phrase that I am willing to concede for the purposes of argument, although I don't think -- it's not my primary position, but let's say that the words "before the acknowledgment" are able to carry two meanings, and we have one phrase that can only carry one meaning, "at the bottom of the contract".

There is no suggestion that "at the bottom of the contract" has anything to do with timing.  That is a physical placement provision.  "Before acknowledgment" can either share that meaning, in terms of physical placement, or it can have a wholly different meaning, in terms of temporal order.  The associated-words rule says we take the shared meaning.  The shared meaning in this case is physical placement.

In my submission, that is enough to dispose of this appeal.  It's a -- or this motion, rather.  It's a well-recognized and broadly applied rule of interpretation, and it applies here with force.

Now, I want to turn to the language in subsection 18.  And if you give me a moment, I will find it.  So subsection 18 says again, taking out some of the extraneous language:  "A contract must contain the following" -- sorry, it must contain the following:  "Following the signatures", referred to in paragraph 17, and "acknowledgment to be signed and dated."

Again, my friend here seizes on the word "following" and neglects to look at the situations outside of this provision where "following" has been used.  Actually, he has -- to be fair, he has looked at those situations, but the conclusions he has drawn are not entirely ones that I would agree with.  The conclusion I would draw from looking at "following" elsewhere in the regulation is that "following" is never used temporally just by itself.  We never have the word "following" just by itself like this, "following the signatures", "following" and then a noun.  We always have "following" coupled with or in the context of an explicit phrase that makes it clear we are talking about timing.

My friend took you to the provision that says "following the earlier of".  There is no question there that "following" is talking about timing.

The other three times "following" is used it says "following the day after".  Again, there is no question that "following" is being used there to denote a temporal order.

It's never used, as in this particular provision, where it's just "following" and then a certain noun that's not something specific to timing.  It's used more than 20 times in a non-temporal sense throughout the provisions.

Now, I acknowledge that "following" is not used in the regulations in the sense that I am urging you to interpret it.  I will acknowledge that upfront.  "Following" is not - it's used generally to itemize a list, as my friend said.  But at best, it doesn't compel a conclusion different than the conclusion that the associated-words rule that I just described leads you to.

So we have section 17, subsection 17, that has the associated-words rule and says something has to be at the bottom of the contract and in a physical way before, and then we have subsection 18 that says "following", looking at that in context, the proper reading of "following" is physically following.

Now, I have an additional point to make, and on the submission that the language of the signature provisions establish in effect a requirement that the acknowledgment is physically at the very end of the contract.  At the end of the day that's what is getting at, right, that the acknowledgment is at the end.

And I think this is important, and it's actually not in my submissions, because it didn't come to me until when my friend took you to section 10.  So I just want to turn to section 10 for a moment.  This is the subsection under the heading "receipt of contract and acknowledgment of receipt".

If we look at 10(1)(b), 10(1)(b) says, starting from the top:

"If a consumer enters into a contract with a person" -- sorry, "in person with someone acting on behalf of the supplier..."

And then we go to (b):

"...the consumer is deemed to acknowledge receipt of a text-based copy of the contract if and when the consumer signs the acknowledgment at the end of the contract."

At the end of the contract.  This provision makes it absolutely clear that the drafters intended the acknowledgment to be at the end of the contract.  There can't be any other legislative intent other than that's where the acknowledgment should be.  Otherwise they would just say "signs the acknowledgment".  Why would you include those extra words?

The problem, of course, is that this provision cannot form the basis for regulatory action against Summitt.  It's just a deeming provision, right?  It just says that the consumer is deemed to acknowledge receipt when a certain event happens.

The tool that this Board has to use to enforce that intention is section 7.  That's the provision that sets out what a supplier like Summitt is required to have in the contract.

If we accept Summitt's interpretation, this clear legislative intent that the acknowledgment has to be at the end of the contract would have no teeth.  There would be no way to achieve that objective.

MS. SPOEL:  We haven't seen the contracts in question because we haven't had any evidence in this case yet.  But is it possible that -- so I don't know how -- where they are physically located, the ones that are alleged to have been done wrong.  But when you go back to paragraph 17 of section 7(1), it talks about it being at the bottom of the contract and -- it says "at the bottom of the contract and before the acknowledgment", and then in subsection 10, where you have got "at the end of the contract".

"The bottom", "the end", does it mean that they necessarily have to be the very last thing or just at the end, in that all the signature lines are at the end, as opposed to at the beginning or the middle?

MR. SAFAYENI:  Well, I am a little bit hesitant to refer to the evidence unless my friend -- I can defer to him on whether we want to go there or not.  I am not sure I need to in order to answer your question.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, I guess my question is does "end" mean -- does "end" have to mean the very, very last thing, or can end just mean in general, like...

MR. SAFAYENI:  Right.  I think I understand the question --


MS. SPOEL:  The last part.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Right.

MS. SPOEL:  I guess maybe that's how I can put it without being specific enough, and how would you --


MR. SAFAYENI:  We're getting --


MS. SPOEL:  -- what would your answer be to that?

MR. SAFAYENI:  Right.  I wish I had minored in semantics.  The -- in my submission, the -- let me offer two responses.  In my submission, 10(1)(b) establishes that the acknowledgment is supposed to be at the end of the contract.  I don't think we need more clear language to say "the absolute very end".  In my submission, "end" means "end", which means the last item.

If we turn back to the two signature provisions -- what I am calling the signature provisions, the joint operation of those two, although it doesn't say the words "very end" - it uses the word "bottom", which is perhaps a little more vague - I think what the legislature or what the drafters of this regulation are getting at is these two things are supposed to be at the end, at the bottom of a one-page contract, and they are supposed to be in the order that we have the acknowledgement at the very bottom and we have the signature before that.

That's my reading of the provisions, and I think that 10(1)(b) supports that.  Is it as clear -- is it absolutely as crystal clear as perhaps we would like it to be?  No, but I think that's the most reasonable interpretation.

And when I go through the purpose of the provisions, I think we will find a little bit more support for that, and I will be coming to it shortly.

Okay, we have looked at the words.  I want to look at the context, and when I say "context" now, I want to look at the list in which the words appear.

Now, my friend urged upon you that the list doesn't really go one way or the other, we can't really tell, and I just want to be clear what my submission on this is.  My submission is that everything else in the list has to do with the physical inclusion of information.  That's not controversial.  I don't have to take you through every single one.

Even the ones where it uses the word "after", it is saying must include a statement that says "after"; right?  There is nothing else in here about a temporal requirement.  There is nothing else in subsections 2, 3 or 4 about a temporal requirement.

Now I am going to take you briefly to a Supreme Court of Canada case.  The case is called Canadian Pacific, and it's somewhat analogous to the task before you, because what was happening in that case was the Supreme Court had to interpret one item in a list and looked at the other items in a list to help.

The Canadian Pacific case is in my authorities - we are in the same book - in tab B1.  And I would like you to go to page 56, please.  If you look at the bottom of page 56, tab B1, this is a Supreme Court of Canada case, and this is the interpretive exercise before it.

It says it has to define the term -- it's looking at the definition of the term "contaminant", and then under (c) it says, "Any solid, liquid, gas, odour, heat, sound, vibration, radiation", and it goes on:
"...resulting directly or indirectly from the activities of man that may..."

And then (1) says:
"Impair the quality of the natural environment for any use that can be made of it."

And the task before the Supreme Court was:  How do we interpret this idea of any use that can be made of the natural environment, that is so open to different interpretations?  How can we possibly give that some meaning?

And you will see there are six other items on that list, right, about the definition of containment.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Contaminant, I think you meant.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Sorry?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Contaminant?

MR. SAFAYENI:  Sorry, contaminant.  I have "contained" in my head from the definition.  You are quite right, contaminant.

Now, if we turn the page to paragraph 64, we see how the Court -- one of the tools the Court uses to resolve this conundrum that it finds itself in.  It says, three lines down:
"Various interpretive techniques are of assistance.  First, as I observed in Nova Scotia Pharmaceutical Society..."

Which is a previous case:
"...legislative provisions must not be considered in a vacuum.  The content of a provision 'is enriched by the rest of the section in which it is found and by the mode of inquiry adopted by courts as they have ruled under this.  Thus, it is significant that the expression challenged by CP as being vague..."

And that's the language I pointed you to.

"...for any use that can be made of it appears in section 13(1)(a) alongside various other environmental impacts which is attract liability.  It is apparent from these other enumerated impacts that the release of a contaminant which poses only trivial or minimal threat is not prohibited by section 13(1)."


And then the Court goes on to look at the language used and the common theme between the rest of those provisions.  It says:
"Instead, the potential impact of the contaminant must have some significance in order for section 13(1) to be breached.  The contaminant must have the potential to cause injury or damage... harm or material discomfort..., adversely affect health... impair safety..."

On and on, and it's quoting from all of those other provisions.  It is saying these other provisions have something in common.  They are all non-trivial.  So it only makes sense to interpret the provision in question in the same way.

I want to draw an analogy between that and the task before you, okay?  We have a series of 18 different requirements.  Sixteen of those requirements unequivocally share one thing in common.  They require physical information to be on a contract.  They have nothing to do with the timing, the process, the order of signature, the circumstances in which they are signed.

In my submission, it would be at odds with a contextual interpretation if two of the provisions suddenly can bear a meaning which is unique and completely dissimilar or disharmonious with the rest of the list.

As Professor Sullivan tells us in her book at page 356 - and I won't take you there, but it's in my authorities at page 356:  Inconsistency or disharmony with legislative or regulatory scheme 'suggests that there is a problem with the proposed interpretation'."


So the context also, in my submission, supports along with the text the interpretation that we are putting forward here.

Now, let's look at the purpose.  Again, there is no question this is consumer protection legislation, but what are these specific provisions designed to achieve?  Well, we don't have to look really any further than the language of subsection 7(1)18, where it says:
"...an acknowledgment to be signed and dated by the consumer or account holder's agent that he or she has received a text-based copy of the contract."


So the purpose here is to make sure the consumer has a copy of the contract that they have just signed, and it goes without saying, I think, that the purpose is that they should have a copy of the entire contract, all of the agreement.

If this is the purpose, then it makes sense to have the acknowledgement at the very end of the contract, because that gives us some reasonable assurance that the pages before, the information before the acknowledgement, is all in the hands of the consumer.

This is just -- it's just basic common sense, in my submission.  If we have an acknowledgement that's on page 1, how can we have any reasonable assurance that all the information following it in a multi-page contract ends up in the consumer's hands?

If you have an acknowledgement at the end, say on page 2 or page 3, of a multi-page contract, that gives us some basis to draw a conclusion that the acknowledgement is at the end; everything above has been received.  That's the purpose that this is meant to achieve.

My friend's interpretation does not advance this purpose.  On my friend's interpretation, the acknowledgement can go wherever it wants to go.  There is no limits whatsoever on the physical placement of the acknowledgement.  The only limit is it has to be signed after the contract is signed.

This is not only at odds with the purpose I just told you.  It is at odds with section 10(1)(b), which clearly reflects the drafters themselves wanted this at the end of the contract.  And, in my submissions, it's for the reasons I just set out.

I think I have explained why compliance counsel's interpretation of these provisions is best situated with the golden rule.  I am going to conclude very briefly by just pointing out seven difficulties with my friend's interpretation, but it will be very brief.  I will not be going through it in any huge detail.

First, it's inconsistent with the purpose that I just outlined, because the acknowledgement could be anywhere, which does not achieve the purpose of making sure the consumer has received the entire agreement.

Second, it requires us to interpret "following" in a way that "following" has not been interpreted elsewhere in the statute, just the word "following".

Third -- and this is very important -- it doesn't comply with the associated-words rule.  That's an important statutory interpretation tool that's been applied several times, and it's just completely irreconcilable with it.

Fourth, it doesn't comply with the contextual interpretation.  It makes us give an interpretation to two parts of a list that are completely out of sync with the rest of the list.

Fifth, it requires us to ignore the opening lines of section 7, which, in my submission -- and the title of the section, which, in my submission, set out that this is requirements about a contract, what a contract must contain, in a certain text size, must be legible.  These are all pointing to physical inclusion of text.

Sixth, it wouldn't let the drafter's intention in 10(1)(b) be realized, because there would be no way of enforcing that objective of having it at the end.  Section 7 would be totally powerless, in terms of achieving that.

Finally, Summitt's interpretation creates an absurdity, because it would create a provision that could never exist.  And I think it's important to just take one second and appreciate the impact of the interpretation being urged upon you by my friend.

Again, if we take out all of the extraneous words and just look at 7(1)17, as my friend urges you to interpret it, the core language is:

"A contract must contain the signature and printed name of the consumer and of the person signing the contract on behalf of the supplier before the acknowledgment described in paragraph 18."

Before the acknowledgment described in paragraph 18.  Summitt would say this means at an earlier time than the acknowledgment in paragraph 18.

But this is impossible.  The acknowledgment in paragraph 18 is part of the contract from the very beginning.  From inception, the acknowledgment is typed on to the contract.  You can never have a signature, printed name, et cetera before the acknowledgment.  The acknowledgment will always come first.  It's on the contract.

What Summitt is really trying to stretch these words to say is that the signature and printed name will happen before the acknowledgment is signed, but that's not what the words say on any reading.  They can't bear that interpretation.

In fact, the provisions make it clear that the acknowledgment is to be signed.  In other words, it exists, and then at a later point it must be signed.  And paragraph 7(1)17 only talks about the acknowledgment, not a signed acknowledgment.

So if we accept Summitt's interpretation, we have an absurd result, and I won't -- again, I won't take you to the specific page.  It's set out in my factum at paragraph 33 that it's a very well-accepted principle.  You can't have an absurd result.  You can't have a result that's incoherent or ineffective.

But if we take Summitt's interpretation, it's the very textbook example of such a result.  We have a provision that could never be made out, and thus serves absolutely no purpose.  And that certainly cannot have been the legislature's intention, and it certainly cannot be the correct interpretive result.

So for all of these reasons, I urge you to make a declaration that the requirements in 7(1)17 must physically be placed before the requirements in section 7(1)18 of Ontario Regulation 389/10.

And subject to any questions you may have, those are my submissions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Just, Mr. Safayeni, the last point that you were making, I just want to follow the logic through on that.  From what you are saying, I take it -- and I just want to confirm that I am understanding your submission -- it is not a contract then unless it contains the acknowledgment as well.  Do you consider the acknowledgment to be part and parcel of the contract as described in 7(1), and that until there is an acknowledgment signature the contract is not executed?

MR. SAFAYENI:  I think that the way that the regulations are drafted that the contract exists when the requirements are met, and the acknowledgment is for receipt of the contract after the signature has been placed upon it.  So I think the acknowledgment is distinct from the contract.  It is acknowledging receipt of the contract.

I think it's a little bit confusing, because when we look at contract requirements on the top of 7(1)(7) -- sorry, section 7(1), what it is talking about is the requirements in the form of the contract.  In other words, not all of these requirements have to be put on after a contract exists, if that makes any sense.

These are requirements that have to be drafted.  Most of them have to be drafted on to the form of the contract before the contract is executed, including the acknowledgment.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  So in that 18 is separate or distinct from 17, where it says "an acknowledgment to be signed and dated".

MR. SAFAYENI:  Right.

MR. QUESNELLE:  As opposed to "the signature and printed name", which is the wording in 17, the one -- and this goes to what I understood to be an earlier agreed-to position, that when we speak of "signature", we are speaking to the signature, not a line for signature.

MR. SAFAYENI:  That's right.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And so in that -- in 17, that gives -- your agreed-to definition or the premise being that "signature" means "the signature", that applies to 17, but in 18 we are talking about what would be a location for a signature, but the absence of that signature does not render the contract -- or it's not needed to enforce the contract or have an executed contract in place.

MR. SAFAYENI:  My position would be -- and I don't want to -- I am a little bit hesitant to put out a position on behalf of the Board, but my initial impression would be that the contract exists, and then you are acknowledging receipt of a document, a legally binding obligation that you have created after the contract has existed.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And then it's to other areas of the regulation as to what purpose or what obligations that contract would have on the parties if it's never acknowledged.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Right.  And there is an additional wrinkle here, because the fact that a contract exists doesn't mean there is not a remedy if the acknowledgment is not included in the proper way.  Of course, a contract can exist, and then you -- it can -- this is becoming a little bit of a brain exercise, but it would be voided or voidable after based on an argument that a certain thing was not included in the proper fashion, if that makes sense.

But my general point is simply that if the argument is that the requirements in 7(1)17 have to be in place before the acknowledgment, I don't understand how that is possible.

MR. QUESNELLE:  That was why I followed up on this line of questioning, because I am not understanding why it is not possible.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Because the acknowledgment is a line that says "I acknowledge receipt of a text-based copy of the contract".  That line is printed on the contract.  It's in the contract from time zero, if we are doing a time line analogy.  At a later time signatures will be placed on, but those signatures will never happen before the acknowledgment.  They will happen before the acknowledgment is signed, perhaps, but not before the acknowledgment.  And if we look at 17 it says "at the bottom of the contract and before the acknowledgment".

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  Okay.  Thank you.

Mr. Selznick?

Reply Submissions by Mr. Selznick:

MR. SELZNICK:  So I will also be brief, and just to restrict myself to reply on a couple of points my friend makes, because they deal -- they in a way point directly to the argument that we have made.

So we are in agreement basically on the way to approach the interpretation legislation, but I don't think my friend's analysis actually works.

The first issue I take is with his use of the actual language, with the opening of section 7(1) of the regulation.  And while it lists a listing of documentary items, it again does not list their physical placement in any specific order.  And I will come to it a second, but the fact that there are two that we say are a temporal placement has purpose in the consumer protection aspects of the legislation.

They are not inconsistent.  I don't buy my friend's position that because 16 factual items must be included in a contract -- without specifying what order they have to be in, but 16 items have to be included in the contract, by specifying that two have to be a temporal order is necessarily inconsistent.  I don't necessarily follow that argument, and I don't think that's the better argument, because I can rationalize why those two temporal points should be in there for the specific points I discussed in my materials, which is consumer protection.

My friend then makes a statement about this text language and contextual language as being this associated wording rule, and that is the rule of statutory interpretation.  It is not the rule of statutory interpretation that applies in this case.

It comes when one needs to look at the words barley, grain and oats, or all right, title and interest, or liens, claims and encumbrances, three words that have an analogy between them or among them, or two words that have an analogy, and you don't really want to interpret one of those words in a context different from the other two.  You don't want to include a lien or a claim or an encumbrance in a term different from the other one of the three.  It would be statutorily inconsistent.

That's not the case we have here.  The big assumption here is we have two terms that are analogous.  And if I can just take you back in my friend's materials on tab 2 of his written submissions, which is the regulation, and again to section 7(1)(17), my friend would have you believe that "the bottom of the contract" and "before the acknowledgement" are terms that are analogous.  They are two different terms.  They are conjoined by "and", but they are not conjoined because they are both the same terms or analogous to the same terms.  There are two separate things that have to happen after the temporal signing of the signatures.

So I vehemently oppose my friend's suggestion that these terms are like liens, claims, encumbrances or right, title and interest.  They are completely two separate terms that are not analogous.

My friend makes reference to the Canadian Pacific case, and I don't disagree with that case, but, again, that's a case that is trying to make an analogy among a listing of potential things that are roughly the same and trying to determine their importance in relation to one that has horrendous results.

That's not really -- there is no evidence to show that "bottom of the contract" and "before the acknowledgement" meet that requirement.  There is no common thread between the two of those terms.

And Professor Sullivan, then, as my friend says at page 356, talks about disharmony as supporting that concept that in this reading of the words, it should be done in a way that is not disharmonious.  It's not disharmonious to read "at the bottom of the contract" and "before the acknowledgement".  That fits perfectly with the language of -- or perfectly with the intent of the legislation, consumer protection legislation, "at the bottom of the contract" and "before the acknowledgement".  It's not disharmonious to suggest that that's a temporal placement.

Now, my friend mentions paragraph 10 -- sorry, 10(1)(b) as a suggestion that this acknowledgement has to "at the end of the contract", because it says in 1(b) that certain consequences -- it's not at the end of the contract, but that's not what section 7(1)18 says.

Section 7(1)18 doesn't say "end of the contract.  And one would assume that if the legislation was speaking about a physical placement offence and they were cognizant -- cognizant enough to put "at the end of the contract" in 10(1)(b), that they would have put it in what would have been a companion provision of 7(1)18, and it's not there.

So this clause, clearly we are talking about the contract.  What includes the viable contract is the temporal ordering of the signing.

My friend is, in a way, trying to bleed over the concept of what the blank form is to what the contract is.  This clause deals -- 7(1) deals with the contract.  It deals with signatures on a page.  It doesn't necessarily deal just with raw data.

So the form may have a place for a signature, but the contract has to have the signatures, and I don't think that's inconsistent.

So if I just quickly run through my friend's seven points, I don't believe that there is anything inconsistent with the purpose of the legislation.  There is no requirement really that -- or no statutory purpose for consumer protection that the acknowledgement be on the same form, necessarily, or at the beginning or end.  It is an acknowledgement they have received a text-based copy, but it's an acknowledgement after they have signed the contract.

It's not an acknowledgement that they have read the text-based copy.  It's not an acknowledgement they understand the text-based copy.  It's an acknowledgement they have received the text-based copy; no more, no less.

So I addressed this association rule my friend had made.  I have addressed the section 10(1)(b) argument, and I don't think it creates an absurdity to say that the contract, the completed document, must have signatures and somewhere on the page an acknowledgement that they have received a copy of the text-based contract after they have signed it.

And it is coupled with a date and signed by the consumer.  It maybe not the world's best wording, but having an acknowledgement that is not signed is of little benefit in consumer protection legislation.

MR. QUESNELLE:  On that last point, Mr. Selznick, and just going back to the same point that Mr. Safayeni made earlier, in 17 we refer in the last lines, the ones that are in question, as to whether or not they are associated or not, "at the bottom of the contract" and "before the acknowledgement" described in paragraph 18.

Now, that acknowledgement, I will just differentiate the use of the term in 18 where it says "an acknowledgement to be signed".  What meaning do you, if any, or distinction between those two uses of the word "acknowledgement" in that -- I'm asking:  Could it be that they -- "before the acknowledgement" is the act of signing, that prepared space which is identified in 18?

MR. SELZNICK:  The only interpretation that we can put on this to give meaning to the clause, the acknowledgement is the signature on the page that the person has received a text-based copy, not a blank that enforces some text-based acknowledgement without the consumer actually signing it.  The concept of "to be signed" is just an instruction that it's to be signed.

The acknowledgement is the signed document, is the signed space.  It would seem to defeat the entire purpose of having it, if it was never signed and the contract was still enforceable.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I have just raised something which I think is new and I will give you an opportunity, Mr. Safayeni.  I will come back to you, Mr. Selznick.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Yes, the question of whether an acknowledgement that is not signed serves any purpose is a different question than what you are asking, which is:  What meaning should we give to the word "acknowledgement"?  And it is my strong submission that the only meaning that makes any sense in the context of this regulation is that the acknowledgement is the text, "I acknowledge receipt of this contract", and then that has to be signed as a separate component or element or however you want to phrase it.

I mean, if an acknowledgement was already signed, then the words "acknowledgement to be signed" would not make sense.  Similarly, the words in 10(1)(b), "the consumer signs the acknowledgement" would not make sense if the acknowledgement was the act of signing or a signed acknowledgement.

I think the acknowledgement is the words on the text, the text on the page, on a preprinted contract, and then separate and apart from that, it has to be signed, just like a contract is the words on the page, and then separate and apart from that it has to be signed.

They are two distinct things, and I think the proper interpretation, at least in my submission, from the words that we have, the fact that -- "to be signed" and in 10(1)(b) "signs the acknowledgement", is that they have to be looked at distinctly.  I don't accept that an acknowledgement is the act of signing.

MS. SPOEL:  How do you deal then with -- and I think if we were to get together and redraft all of this, we might do it slightly differently, but --


MR. SAFAYENI:  My firm is available for retainer if --


MS. SPOEL:  How do you deal, though -- if you look at paragraph 18, it says, "following signatures an acknowledgement", but when the form is printed, there are no signatures, because it hasn't been signed yet.

So -- because the signatures have to be added in later, because there is no consumer at the time the form is printed.  So you are suggesting, Well, it has to be physically placed following, but there are no -- it doesn't say "following the space for signatures", it says "following the signatures", and at the time it's printed there are no signatures.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Right.  But when it is signed it will be following it.  I don't think that's -- I am not sure that's inconsistent.  I may be missing your point.  I --


MS. SPOEL:  Well, I am not sure.  I am just puzzled.  I am trying --


MR. SAFAYENI:  Right.

MS. SPOEL:  -- I'm not trying to make any particular point.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.

MS. SPOEL:  I am just trying -- I am trying to work through --


MR. SAFAYENI:  You are quite right.  At the time the acknowledgment is on the contract -- at the time the acknowledgment is on the contract, the signatures won't be there, but I think that that's why "following" means physically after, because once the signatures are there it is physically following it.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Selznick, final reply?


MR. SELZNICK:  I will just be very brief on this, and just to pick up on this point, I think the way that you can bring some harmony to 17 and 18, these sub-paragraphs of 7(1), is really to read the requirement to 17 for the -- to be the signed acknowledgment described.  The acknowledgment described in 18 is the place to be signed, so the place and the signing.  That's the only way you can bring harmony to it.  And really, it's the signing in the second line, the signature and printed name of the consumer and the account holder agent signing the contract of the person, so the act of physically signing by two people, and before the acknowledgment, which has to be the sign, so it doesn't say "the acknowledgment place on the form" or "the acknowledgment to be signed by the consumer", but rather "the acknowledgment".

So I think the clear intention here is the acknowledgment referred to in 17 is the completed acknowledgment referenced in paragraph 18, or section 18, and that, I think, handled Ms. Spoel's comment about, how could you ever possibly have an acknowledgment in the abstract before the signatures were -- or after the signatures were signed, before -- before the signature was signed, because that's the only way I think you consistently read harmony into these two paragraphs.  I think that is consistent with the legislation as well.

So those are our submissions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  If there is no other matters, Mr. --


MR. SAFAYENI:  I am sorry, there is just one matter, and I haven't raised this with my friend, so if an adjournment is required to deal with it, that's fine.  I don't -- it's not a major matter.  I just would like to reserve the ability of compliance counsel to seek costs for this proceeding in the cause; that is to say, if compliance counsel is ultimately successful in this regulatory proceeding against Summitt.

And I am not sure -- perhaps I could get some direction from the Board members on what, if anything, is necessary in order to preserve that ability.  I don't want to argue for it now, and I am not...

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think the costs awards and the whole costs matter, we will hear submissions on it in its entirety, and there is no need to reserve at this point at the end, and irrespective of who considers themselves to be successful or not in these submissions are taken irrespective of that, and we weigh all these things.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And I did not mean in any way to be presumptive.  I simply wanted to put it on the record and give everybody notice that that was something that we were seeking to do, and wanted to reserve our rights in that regard, and if the Board is content to have that dealt with at a later juncture, that's fine.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Our rules around costs awards allow for that without any prior reservation on that matter.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  We have a -- obviously a determination that we have held and maintained reserving on that, in light of this motion that was coming forward, but we still have disclosure.  We will deal with that in due course, and obviously commensurate with our findings today as to how we will go forward on that.  So we are intent on getting that out as soon as we can.

Thank you very much.  And thank you very much for today.  We stand adjourned.

--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 2:57 p.m.
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